
 
 
 

SCRUTINY : GOVERNANCE, 
PERFORMANCE, BUSINESS CHANGE AND 

CORPORATE SERVICES 
 

4.00 pm TUESDAY, 2ND JULY, 2019 
 

COUNCIL CHAMBER 
 

A Pre-Meeting will take place in the Board Room at 3.30 pm.   
This Meeting is for Committee Members only  

 
 

Please note that today’s meeting will be recorded.  
  

This recording will not be broadcast on the Authority’s internet as it will only be used 
for training purposes by the Democratic Services Department. 

 
The Public Seating areas will be in view of the Camera and, by entering the Chamber 

and using the Public Seating Area, Members of the Public are consenting to being 
filmed and to the possible use of those images and sound recordings as outlined 

above.   

 

 
This Agenda has been prepared by the Democratic Services Department. Any 
member of the public requiring information should contact the department on 

(01685) 725284 or email democratic@merthyr.gov.uk. 
 

Any reference documents referred to but not published as part of this agenda 
can be found on the Council’s website or intranet under Background Papers. 

 

AGENDA 
 

1. Apologies for Absence   

2. Declarations of Interest (including whipping 
declarations)  

 

 Members are reminded of their personal  

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


responsibility to declare any personal and 
prejudicial interest in respect of matters contained 
in this agenda in accordance with the provisions of 
the Local Government and Finance Act 1992 
relating to Council Tax, the Local Government Act 
2000, the Council’s Constitution and the Members 
Code of Conduct 
 
Note: 
 

(a) Members are reminded that they must 
identify the item number and subject matter 
that their interest relates to and signify the 
nature of the personal interest and 

 
(b) Where Members withdraw from a Meeting 

as a consequence of the disclosure of a 
prejudicial interest they must notify the 
Chair when they leave 

 

3. Welsh Public Library Standards   

 To consider the attached report 
 

5 - 38 

4. Draft Annual Governance Statement for the 
Financial Year 2018-19  

 

 To consider report of the Deputy Chief Executive 
 

39 - 72 

5. Living Well   

 To consider report of the Chief Officer Social 
Services 
 

73 - 88 

6. Work Programme 2018-19   

 To consider the attached report 
 

89 - 98 

7. Scrutiny Referrals, Feedback and Follow up 
Actions  

 

8. Reflection and Evaluation of Meeting   

 To receive an update from the Chair 
 

 

9. Any other business deemed urgent by the Chair  
 
 
 
 

 



  
COMPOSITION: Councillors:  T Skinner (Chair) 

                     G Lewis (Vice-Chair) 
  
 Councillors:   J Amos, H R Jones, D Sammon, 

W R Smith and C T Jones 
 
Co-optees:    J Beard, C Payne and E Wilkins-Campbell 

  
together with appropriate officers 
 

 

 
 

If you would prefer a copy of this agenda in another language please contact 
democratic@merthyr.gov.uk or telephone 01685 725284 

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 

 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT 

 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Welsh Public Library Standards 
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 The attached documents provide the full return to Welsh Government in relation to 

the Welsh Public Library Standards. While the day to day management of the Library 
services has been given over to Merthyr Tydfil Leisure Trust, the responsibility for 
Library services remains with the Local Authority under the 1964 Libraries and 
Museums Act.  

 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 
2.1 The report requires ratification through a scrutiny process to be a final submission to 

Welsh Government, therefore the recommendations are as follows: 
2.2 That the report is accepted and ratified as a full return 
 
 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 The report is being presented to scrutiny as the local authority must have a process 

in place to ratify the submission made yearly to Welsh Government. Scrutiny is being 
asked to look at the report, challenge any issues identified and ultimately ratify it in 
its current form for submission to Welsh Government in line with the responsibilities 
held by the authority un the 1964 Libraries and Museums Act. 

 
3.2 The Welsh Public Library Standards are the way in which the minister with 

responsibility for Library Services is able to measure whether an authority is 
complying with its statutory duty. 

 

Date Written 20th June 2019 

Report Author Jane Sellwood 

Service Area Libraries 

Committee Date 2nd July 2019 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



4.0 WHERE WE WERE  
 
4.1 During the first year of the framework we met 6 of the 7 indicators with targets and all 

12 of the core entitlements. 
 

5.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW  
 
5.1 This report maintains the performance against the current framework overall. The 

authority still meets 6 of the 7 targets in full and one in part, with all core entitlements 
met. 

 

6.0 WHERE WE WANT TO BE  
 
6.1 To maintain this performance through the life of the framework 
 

7.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT  
 
7.1 Ensure all our policies and practices feed into the delivery of the service to maintain 

performance 
 

8.0 CONTRIBUTION TO NATIONAL WELLBEING GOALS 

8.1 The new framework deals with the national wellbeing goals in the following way: 

A Prosperous Wales 

Development of a skilled and well educated population is a fundamental aspect of public 
libraries activity. Examples of how this is achieved include providing access to a world of 
lifelong learning through relevant book stock and online information, and the provision of 
free IT equipment, broadband and wi-fi, which supports education, small businesses and 
job seeking. Core entitlements 2, 3, 6 and 7, and quality indicators 1, 3, 5, 7, 8, 9,12, 13 
and 15 all monitor aspects of public libraries contribution to this goal. 

A Resilient Wales  

Social and economic resilience is supported by encouraging and promoting individual 
personal development, enabling people and society to adapt to changing circumstances. 
Regular consultation with users ensures that the services themselves are resilient and able 
to adapt to changing needs. Two core entitlements are particularly pertinent here, 3 and 11, 
together with quality indicators 4, 11 and 14. Examples of how this is achieved in practice 
include support for greater community involvement in running library services and book 
stock that encourages a more resilient lifestyle with access to IT so people can self-educate 
about the issues. 
 
A Healthier Wales  
Physical and mental wellbeing is a key offer of public libraries, not only by providing 
information on which to base informed choices for the benefit of health in the future but also 
designated collections and schemes such as Book Prescription Wales titles loaned through 
libraries, which directly benefit individuals with health concerns. Relevant core entitlements 
for this goal are 3 and 4: quality indicators 1, 4 and 6 monitor activity. 
 
 
 Page 6



A More Equal Wales 
Libraries are welcoming, inclusive and offer pro-active outreach and public engagement 
activities in deprived and socially excluded communities. Support for Government initiatives 
such as Universal JobMatch and Universal Credit enable those without IT skills or facilities 
fulfil their potential. Core entitlements 1, 2, 4, 6 and 7 and quality indicators 3, 4, 11, 13 and 
14, all monitor public libraries contribution to this goal. 
 
A Wales of Cohesive Communities 
Libraries offer a safe neutral place within the community which provides opportunities for 
people to connect with each other. The one-stop shop or hub model being developed in 
many areas further connects local communities with the services they need. Other 
examples of support for community involvement through the process of provision of 
information about the local area. Core entitlements 1, 3 and 5 and quality indicators 1, 6, 13 
and 16 monitor aspects of public libraries contribution ot this goal. 
 
A Wales of Vibrant Culture and Thriving Welsh Language 
With explicit provision in the current framework covering the provision of material in the 
Welsh Language, libraries are well placed to contribute in this area. They promote and 
protect Welsh Culture and language, and encourage participation in the arts and recreation 
through the availability of a good range of stock in Welsh, and a host of cultural events and 
activities. Core entitlements include 2, 3, 6, 8, 9 and 10 and quality indicators 2, 6, 8, 9 and 
10 are particularly relevant here. 
 
A Globally Responsible Wales 
A commitment to make the most efficient use of resources is embodied in the quality 
indicators. MALD works with the British Standards Institute and International Standards 
Organisation in developing and using quality indicators for Libraries that conform to ISO 
11620. Further the borrowing of books is a great recycling tool, reducing the impact on the 
environment. Libraries in Wales work together in book purchasing consortia, digital e-book 
consortia and the All Wales Library Management system. Core entitlement 12 is directly 
related to global good practice, while quality indicators 14 and 15 are related to the balance 
and efficiency of service provision. 
 
 
JANE SELLWOOD 
WELLBEING OPERATIONS MANAGER 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

WPLS Future Direction 
WPLS Case Study 1 
WPLS Case Study 2 
WPLS Case Study 3 
WPLS Narrative 
WPLS Annual Return 
Pro-Forma 
 

20th June 2019 Attached 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

 

 
Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
Merthyr Tydfil Public Libraries  

Welsh Public Library Standards Case Study 1 

[Type text] 
 

International Women’s Day 2019 

 

Summary 

International Women's Day (March 8) is a global day celebrating the social, economic, cultural and 
political achievements of women. The day also marks a call to action for accelerating gender parity. 

International Women's Day (IWD) has occurred for well over a century, with the first IWD gathering 
in 1911 supported by over a million people in Austria, Denmark, Germany and Switzerland. Prior to 
this the Socialist Party of America, United Kingdom's Suffragists and Suffragettes, and further groups 
campaigned for women's equality. 

Project Aims 

 

Women from Merthyr Tydfil who have made, and, continue to lead change in their local 
communities were invited to speak to a group of young women from The College, Merthyr Tydfil, 
and to other interested attendees about their experiences as women taking leadership roles in the 
community, and, further afield. The aims of the project were: 

 To provide great female role models. 

 Help to give the young women who attended the day, the best start in life, by helping them 
to develop their confidence and resilience. Essential for their mental health. 

 Celebrate the achievements of women in Merthyr Tydfil, and empower young women to 
take part. 

 Recognise the important contribution of women from Merthyr Tydfil to the national life of 
Wales, through the example of Ursula Masson.  

 Through the Purple Plaque scheme help to diversify and strengthen the local economy 
through tourism. A purple plaque for Ursula Masson was unveiled on the day on the front of 
the Library. This is only the second plaque to have been unveiled in Wales to date. 

 

Page 9



 

 
Merthyr Tydfil Public Libraries  

Welsh Public Library Standards Case Study 1 

[Type text] 
 

 

The Project 

The morning session was attended by students form the Creative Arts Department of The College, 
Merthyr Tydfil. The session was opened by Jane Sellwood, Operations Manager of 
Wellbeing@Merthyr. This was followed by a presentation from pupils at Dowlais Primary School, 
who have been researching famous women of Merthyr Tydfil. 
 

 
 
The children’s work was on display in the Plymouth Courtyard, throughout the day. 

Page 10



 

 
Merthyr Tydfil Public Libraries  

Welsh Public Library Standards Case Study 1 

[Type text] 
 

 

   Speakers in the first session were Chisomo Phiri, Anne England, and, Dawn Bowden AM. 

 

Page 11



 

 
Merthyr Tydfil Public Libraries  

Welsh Public Library Standards Case Study 1 

[Type text] 
 

After the intermission, the day continued with talks from Deputy Minister Jane Hutt AM, Julie 

Morgan AM, and Dawn Bowden AM. The final speech by Ursula Masson’s niece, Helen Molyneux, 

was followed by the unveiling of the Purple Plaque outside Merthyr Central Library. 

 

 

 

Page 12



 

 
Merthyr Tydfil Public Libraries  

Welsh Public Library Standards Case Study 1 

[Type text] 
 

 

Project Results 

Around twenty young female students attended the day, alongside other interested parties. They 

said afterwards, that they had found the session, “Inspirational”. Over 100 people attended the 

unveiling of the Purple Plaque for Ursula Masson, organised in conunction with our partners 

Chwarae Teg. 

Next Steps 

Seek closer co-operation with The College, Merthyr Tydfil, Girl Guides, and other organisations 

working with young women to plan events for the next International Women’s Day, 8th March, 2020. 

 

 

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
Merthyr Tydfil Public Libraries  

Welsh Public Library Standards Case Study 2 

[Type text] 
 

Trevithick Day 2019 

Summary 

Merthyr Tydfil was central to the development of the Steam and Industrial history of Britain. The 
first time a steam engine ran on rails and pulled heavy loads was on the 21st February 1804. The 
track ran from the Penydarren Ironworks to the Canal Basin at Abercynon. 
 
Trevithick Day is now an annual event in Merthyr Tydfil on the 21st February. 
 
To commemorate the event a team convened from Wellbeing@Merthyr, Merthyr Tydfil Heritage 
Forum, the Rights of Way Officer from MTCBC to work on a joint project. 
 

Project Aims 

Merthyr Tydfil has received on-going bad publicity for social problems, which potentially makes 
inhabitants less proud to be from Merthyr Tydfil, and deters visitors to the town. The project aimed 
to:- 

 Promote a sense of ‘civic pride’ where people from Merthyr Tydfil learnt about the history of 
the surviving industrial landmarks in the town and area.  

 Promote Merthyr Tydfil as a good place to visit because of its heritage.  

 Help to strengthen and sustain a diverse economy through tourism, in Merthyr Tydfil. 

 Help to give children the best start in life, by helping them to develop their written, and, 
communication skills. 

The Project 

Merthyr Tydfil Public Libraries organised a writing competition for Key Stage 2 children, from schools 
in Merthyr Tydfil. To promote the take-up of the competition by schools in MTCBC, the Education 
Officer, Ben Price, at Cyfarthfa Museum offered free workshops on ‘Life in Victorian Times’ to the 
first four schools to respond. The Rights of Way Officer, Beth Jones,  then offered workshops by the 
actor Tony Thomas, who played Richard Trevithick, at the Trevithick Tunnel. 

Page 15



 

 
Merthyr Tydfil Public Libraries  

Welsh Public Library Standards Case Study 2 

[Type text] 
 

  

   

 

 

Page 16



 

 
Merthyr Tydfil Public Libraries  

Welsh Public Library Standards Case Study 2 

[Type text] 
 

Project Results 

 

Over 120 children participated in the two sets of workshops. One of the sessions with Tony Thomas 
was livestreamed by Corporate Communications. The livestreaming caused a lot of interest, and, the 
Rights of Way Officer commissioned a further ‘Trevithick Experience’ by Tony Thomas. The 
additional workshop took place on Trevithick Day – 21st February 2019 – and attracted 30+ people. 
 
Four winners were identified by the judging panel. The prize for the winning contestants in the 

competition was to have their story read to them by the actor Steve Speirs who is originally from 

Merthyr Tydfil. On Trevithick Day, the winner and the authors of three Highly Commended entries 

were invited to Cyfarthfa Castle. Steve Speirs read the entries to the children, and presented them 

with their winners’ certificates. The event was filmed by students from Merthyr College, and a short 

film of the event was released on Facebook. 

Winner: Ellie, Gwaunfarren Primary School 

Highly Commended: Taylor, Ysgol Rhyd Y Grug 
   Mia, Cyfarthfa Primary School 
   Finley, Heolgerrig Community Primary School 

 

Page 17



 

 
Merthyr Tydfil Public Libraries  

Welsh Public Library Standards Case Study 2 

[Type text] 
 

The winning entries were also put on display at the Red House in Merthyr Tydfil. 

Next Steps 

 

17th April 2021 will mark 250 years since Richard Trevithicks’ birth, and, 21st February 2024 will mark 
220 years after the running of the Penydarren steam engine. 
 
Plans are in place to for the Merthyr Tydfil Heritage Trust to apply for funding to prepare and publish 
a new leaflet on the Trevithick Trail. As well as promoting Merthyr Tydfil as a place to visit, this could 
also help to make Merthyr Tydfil a healthier place by encouraging local people to walk the Trevithick 
Trail. 
 
Promote the competition more widely next year, so that more schools are encouraged to take part. 
 

Page 18



 

 
Merthyr Tydfil Public Libraries  

Welsh Public Library Standards Case Study 3 

[Type text] 
 

Earth Hour 2019 

 

Summary 

 

Earth Hour is a worldwide movement organized by the World Wide Fund for Nature. The event is 

held annually encouraging individuals, communities, and businesses to turn off non-essential electric 

lights for one hour, from 8:30 to 9:30 pm on a specific day towards the end of March, as a symbol of 

commitment to the planet. This year the date of Earth Hour was 30th March 2019. 

 

Many of us feel powerless in the face of overwhelming threats to the planet. But when we all come 

together for Earth Hour, we create a strong voice that can change things for the better.   

90% of people who take part in Earth Hour say it inspires them to do more to protect the planet.  

 

Merthyr Tydfil Public Library Service organised a Family Fun Day at Cyfarthfa Park to inform and 

inspire all ages to make changes in their lifestyles which would improve their environment for the 

better. Using books and artefacts as a basis we worked with partner organisations Head4Arts, the 

Parent Network Merthyr Tydfil, Cyfarthfa Museum, and, WWFCymru. 

Project Aims 

To encourage children, parents and grandparents to participate in a range of outdoor activities, 

exploring the wildlife and plants around Cyfarthfa Park. The activities would encourage: 

 Learning through activity and using written and spoken word to develop new knowledge and 

skills in a fun environment (storytelling and pledge making) 

 Children to develop their knowledge, listening, and observation skills, through a range of 

activities. This will help their learning skills so that they become more confident individuals. 

 Children and adults to develop their creativity through craft and art activities. Craft activities 

have also been shown to improve mental health. 

 Children and adults to be more active through a range of gentle outdoor activities, leading to 

good physical health. Outdoor activity has also been shown to improve mental wellbeing. 

 Encourage re-cycling by all, to protect and enhance the local environment and countryside. 

 Encourage all to care for their local wildlife by feeding non-damaging and non-polluting 

foodstuffs. 

 Encourage all to make ‘planet pledges’ – small changes in their lifestyle that will help to 

protect and improve the environment. 

Page 19



 

 
Merthyr Tydfil Public Libraries  

Welsh Public Library Standards Case Study 3 

[Type text] 
 

The Project 

In the weeks before the Fun Day, Planet Pledge sessions were held with local community groups. 

Participants made origami cranes. After some discussion about the environment and problems 

caused by human consumption, the participants wrote a pledge on the crane to alter their lifestyle 

to improve their environment. The cranes were then gathered together, ready for the Fun Day. 

 

Project Results 

Over 300 people attended the Fun Day and took part in the activities.  

 Penguin Masks 

 Bird Feeders 

 Duck Food 

 Crane puppets 

 Origami & Planet Pledges 

 Bird walks around Cyfarthfa Park 

 Storytelling 

 Penguins and the environmental threat 

 

Page 20



 

 
Merthyr Tydfil Public Libraries  

Welsh Public Library Standards Case Study 3 

[Type text] 
 

 

 

Next Steps 

Earth Hour will take place again on Saturday 28th March, 2020 at 8.30pm. We would aim to 

 extend the number of environmental organisations participating in the Fun Day 

 Extend the activities into the evening, to actually cover Earth Hour between 8.30pm and 

9.30pm. 

 

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



WPLSQI 1 Making a difference Framework 6 Framework 5

Percentage of adults who think that using the library has helped them develop new skills 94% 94%

Percentage of adults who have found helpful information for health and well-being at the library 88% 88%

Percentage of adults who experience the library as an enjoyable safe and inclusive place 100% 100%

Percentage of adults who think that the library has made a difference to their lives 94% 93%

Survey dates (month & year) Mar-19 Survey date Mar-18

Authority comment:

Percentage of children aged 7-16 who think that the library helps them learn and find things out 95% 95%

Survey dates (month & year) Mar-19 Survey date Mar-18

Authority comment:

WPLSQI 2 Customer satisfaction Framework 6 Framework 5

Percentage of adults who think that the choice of books is ‘very good’ or ‘good’ 98% 98%

Percentage of adults who think that the standard of customer care is ‘very good’ or ‘good’ 100% 100%

Percentage of adults who think that the IT facilities provided are ‘very good’ or ‘good’ 94% 94%

Percentage of adults who think that the library is ‘very good’ or ‘good’ overall 99% 99%

Survey dates (month & year) Mar-19 Survey date Mar-18

Authority comment:

Average overall rating out of ten awarded by users aged 7-16 for the library they use 9.0 9%

Survey dates (month & year) Mar-19 Mar-18

Authority comment:

Children are often the harshest of critics but we have a good level of interaction with the young users and one 

of our branches in particular has a fantastic children's activity programme with young volunteers alongside 

traditional group such as Homework Club and Lego Club. The children are encouraged to be active 

participants in their community and this develops skills and knowledge in those children taking part helping to 

also build confidence.

WPLSQI 3 Support for individual development 2018-19 % of total 2017-18 % of 

total

Number of static service points open for 10 hours per week or more providing:

Basic support in the use of ICT infrastructure provided (including Wi-Fi) and in accessing the range of 

electronic information resources available.
5 100% 100%

Training to improve literacy, numeracy, information literacy and digital skills. 5 100% 100%

Support for users to access local and national e-government resources. 5 100% 100%

Reader development programmes/activities for both adults and children 5 100% 100%

This target has been met.

We are pleased to have retained performance against all of the measures and to show a small increase in the one area.We are especially pleased to have retained the 100% result for the question around the 

library being a safe, enjoyable and inclusive space.

Out internal targets have been met by the result and we are pleased to have not shown a drop as we did the previous year. We have more work to do 

Again we are happy to have maintained our performance against these measures. Targeted purchasing, including equipment has helped to ensure this performance remains high. The new suite of computers, 

donated last year, have really helped with performance against this and maintaining the provision, allowing purchases to focus on other equipment where applicable.

P
age 23



WPLSQI 4 Support for health & wellbeing 2018-19 % of total
2017-18 % of 

total

Number of static service points open for 10 hours per week or more providing:

Books Prescription Wales scheme 5 100% 100%

Better with Books scheme 5 100% 100%

Designated health & wellbeing collection 5 100% 100%

Information about healthy lifestyles & behaviours 5 100% 100%

Signposting to health & wellbeing services 5 100% 100%

This target has been met.

Number of static service points open for 10 hours per week or more providing: 2017-18

Shared Reading groups 5 5

Book clubs 5 5

Health information partnerships 5 5

Dementia friendly champions and services 5 5

Mental health awareness activities 5 5

Authority comment:

WPLSQI 5 User training 2018-19 Per 1,000 pop'n 2017-18

Total number of attendances at pre-arranged user training sessions organised by the library 12,497 208 per 1000 pop'n 238

Percentage of attendees who said that attendance helped them to achieve their goals 97% % 96%

Please indicate the method used to calculate this figure

Approximate number of feedback forms distributed 650

Number of feedback forms included in the calculation 356

Number of customers helped by means of informal training during the year 21,965            366

Authority comment (including note on the method used to calculate the results):

WPLSQI 6 User attendances at library events 2018-19 per 1000 pop'n 2017-18

Total number of attendances at events and activities organised by the library 14,967 250 per 1000 pop'n 288

Number of static service points open for 10 hours per week or more providing events or activities for users 

with special requirements
5 100%

This target has been met.

Representative sample

Out relationship has always been good with health providers locally through Books on Prescription and other activities. We changed the way we categorised non-fiction stock a while ago to make browsing easier 

and make regular use of targeted displays of stock. We hold appropriate sessions in all Library Service points and  all Library staff have undergone training as Dementia Friends. Sessions include those run through 

MIND, Smoking Cessation, Drink Wise Age Well alongside other more bespoke sessions. As part of the work done to promote healthy lifestyles, staff delivery family and children's activity have undergone physical 

literacy training and use this  alongside the more traditional methods used to deliver sessions at all libraries.

Changes in the way information is being provided by the local authority and other organisations in the local area seems to have made a difference to the number of users coming to the staff for help to carry out 

tasks such as ordering replacement bins or other basic enquiries. Many of the enquiries recieved are around help with printing, form filling and navigating websites such as Universal Credit and Universal Job Match. 

The Library is probably the only providers who provides this informal assistance alongside the access to infratsurcture which is also needed. The loss of funding from some partners who were traditonally providing 

lessons and classes has also impacted on the level of informal training staff are continuing to deliver. Although these classes are ongoing (albeit to a lesser extent) the overall impacts are starting to be felt. The 

increase in informal training is commensurate with the number of people moving away from the formal training sessions as these reduce.

P
age 24



Authority comment, including examples of events:

WPLSQI 7 Location of service points 2018-19 2017-18

Population density (persons per hectare) 5.3

% of households within 2.5 miles (or 10 minutes travelling time by public transport) of a static service point, or 

within ¼ mile of a mobile library stop
88% % 88%

This target has been met.

WPLSQI 8 Library use 2018-19 Per 1,000 pop'n
2017-18 Per 

1,000 pop'n

Total number of visits to library premises during the year 229,042 3,820 1,000

Please indicate the method used for calculation

Total number of external visits to the library's web site during the year 56,829 948 865

Total number of active borrowers during the year 8,932 149 148

Total number of library members 47,349 790 768

Total number of adult book issues 135,517 2,260 2,047

Total number of children's book issues 30,887 515 410

Total number of audio-visual issues 13,118 219 220

Total number of electronic downloads 6,965 116 113

WPLSQI 9  Up-to-date and appropriate reading material 2018-19 Per 1,000 pop'n
2017-18 Per 

1,000 pop'n

Total number of items acquired 14,737 246 245

Total materials expenditure (from WPLSQI 14) £97,560 £1,627

This target has been met.

Total expenditure on material purchased for children £11,305

Does this figure include expenditure on a Schools Library Service? No

Percentage of materials expenditure for children 12% % 18%

WPLSQI 10  Welsh language resources 2018-19 Per 1,000 pop'n 2017-18

Total expenditure on materials in the Welsh language £4,327

During 2017-18 we had invested heavily in our childrens stock and as such had a very good stock selection to work with. We did not feel that a prudent use of the money would be to spend large amounts again and 

diverted some monies that would normally have been spent on childrens stock to improving the Welsh stock.

While we have shared service points, once of which is part staffed, we do not use shared counting. We use counting methods for both which record only library use. We have not done any work during the year on 

cleasning of records but are not doing a larger piece of work at this moment in time before looking to migrate to the new all Wales system.

The number of events has been somewhat reduced over the last year due to some capacity issues. These have impacted on attendance at the events, however the service is still delivering a high number of events 

and activities and often find they are overprescribed, especially the activities such as Harry Potter night and the regular story and rhyme sessions.

Authority comment

A combination of these methods

Authority comment (include names of any shared service points with shared counting mechanisms and date of last membership data cleanse; please also provide a note of any statistics collected on social media 

use, and how this data is counted):

The items included in this calculation are based on the previous year reports and includes book and non-book items alongside electronic resources purchased by the library service. 

P
age 25



Percentage of materials exenditure on materials in the Welsh language 4% % 3%

Spend per 1,000 Welsh-speaking resident population £ £750

This target has been met.

Total number of isues of Welsh language material 1,824 30

WPLSQI 11 Online access 2018-19 Per 10,000 pop'n 2017-18

Do all libraries provide a minimum of one device giving public access to the Internet and networked digital 

content?
Yes

This target has been met.

Do all static service points provide Wi-Fi access for the public using their own devices? Yes

This target has been met.

Total number of devices giving public access to the Internet: 60 10.01 per 10,000 pop'n 10

Available in static libraries 60

Available in mobile libraries 0

Authority comment:

Number of hours available for use of public access ICT facilities during the year 61,514

Number of hours recorded for use of public access ICT facilities during the year 38,965 63% % 62%

Authority comment:

WPLSQI 12 Supply of requests 2018-19 % 2017-18 %

Total number of requests for specific items made during the year 5,863

Number of requests which are notified to the user as being available within 7 calendar days of the request 

being made
4,158 71% 74%

This target has been met.

Number of requests which are notified to the user as being available within 15 calendar days of the request 

being made
4,768 81% 84%

Some improvement has been made but there is a lot more work to do to develop this

The increased pressure on the public to access services digitally has driven up some of the usage as has been previously highlighted in the return. The usage of the various devices to access a range of services is 

a highly valued service to the people of Merthyr and is something particularly valued in the branch libraries located in areas where there are very few other public services.

We have maintained the number of devices which includes PCs, laptops and tablets

We have done some work during the year to improve the Welsh stock available at all service points and have invested fairly heavily in replenishing this stock in the hopes that it will improve usage (alongside 

appropriate marketing) but this has come late in the year due to various issues and will hopefully be a longer term impact.

Authority comment

P
age 26



This target has been met.

WPLSQI 13  Staffing levels & qualifications 2018-19 Per 10,000 pop'n 2017-18

Total number of staff (FTE) 13.9 2.32

This target has not been met. Please add any comments below:

Authority comment (including information about shared staff):

Number of staff holding recognised library related qualifications (FTE) (including cognate areas) 2.0 0.33

This target has not been met. Please add any comments below:

Number of staff holding qualifications in cognate areas (FTE) 0.0

Number of posts which require a library qualification 3.0

Number of staff with library qualifications in posts which do not require a library qualification (FTE) 0.0

Authority comment:

Does the designated operational manager of library services hold a formal qualification in librarianship or 

information science or information management? 
Yes

Please give details of current qualifications held:

Don't know

This target has been met.

Where does this post sit within the local authority management structure?

What is the post held by the most senior professional librarian (if different from the above)?

Where does the post held by the most senior professional librarian sit within the local authority management 

structure (if different from the above)?

Total staff working hours during the year 24,925

Number of staff hours spent in training & personal/professional development 499

% of time spent in training & personal/professional development 2.0% 2017-18 1.30%

This target has been met.

Total number of volunteers active during the year 46 2017-18 51

Total number of volunteer working hours during the year 632 2017-18 800

There are currently no shared staff in the system although we do share buildings with other service areas such as leisure. There are no current plans to change the staffing levels however, there is also no likelihood 

for increases to staffing. Despite being low on staffing, staff are used to the best advantage, work is carefully planned and this management means the service provided is comprehensive and efficient. There is 

currently one vacant post which requires a library qualification.

There is currently one vacant post requiring a library qualification 

We have taken advantage of free training opportunities this year through Chwarae Teg as well as other providers and used this training to help develop skills and knowledge throughout the staff. We are pleased to 

have exceeded the target and believes this shows the commitment we have as an organisation to CPD.

There are no qualified librarians in roles which do not require it, neither are there staff qulaified in other disciplines.

The current operational manager holds a BScHons Library and Information Studies

N/A

The post is not part of the local authority structure as we operate as a Trust.

N/A

P
age 27



Do you have Investors in Volunteers acreditation relating to the NOS? No

Briefly describe the training and support offered to volunteers.

Authority comment:

WPLSQI 14  Operational expenditure 2018-19 % of total 2017-18 % of total

Expenditure on staff £257,899 52% 63%

Total materials expenditure £97,560 20% 20%

Expenditure on maintenance, repair & replacement of equipment & buildings £16,037 3% 5%

Total other operational costs £124,890 25% 13%

Total revenue expenditure £496,386 100%

Total revenue expenditure per 1,000 population £8,280

Total capital expenditure £0

Total capital expenditure per 1,000 population £0

Authority comment:

WPLSQI 15 Cost per visit 2018-19 Ratio 2017-18

Total revenue expenditure on staff & materials 355,458.60£   

Total income generated £17,690.00 Income £23,175.00

Total number of visits to library premises during the year 229,042

Total number of external visits to the library's web site during the year 56,829 £1.18 Cost per visit

Authority comment:

WPLSQI 16 Opening hours 2018-19 Per 1,000 pop'n 2017-18 Per 1,000 pop'n

Aggregate annual opening hours for all service points 9,375 156

This target has been met.

Total number of unstaffed opening hours for all service points 0

Authority comment:

% of total 2017-18 % of total

We are pleased to maintain a high number of opening hours across the service points. This is important to us to ensure equality of access across all service points.

Each volunteer has a written role description outlining the key responsibilities and role to them. Each volunteer is given a site specific induction as well as an overview of the organisation. Training is available and 

dependant on the volunteer placement. In addition, each volunteer has a named member of staff as a mentor as well as being able to contact the designated volunteer co-ordinator who has undergone training 

through the local VAMT (Voluntary Action Merthyr Tydfil)

The unfilled post alongside the generally low levels of staffing have resulted in less capacity to actively work with, recruit and train volunteers

P
age 28



Total hours of unplanned and emergency closure of static service points as a result of building failure or staff 

unavailability
0

Total planned opening hours of all static service points 0

Total number of missed mobile library stops and home deliveries as a result of vehicle failure or staff 

unavailability
0

Total planned mobile library stops and home deliveries 1,824 0.00%

Authority comment:

There have been no emergency or unplanned closures due to building failure of staff shortages. The ability that the excellent staff have to work across areas mitigates this for us and allows us to react quickly to any 

situations that do arise. Building refurbishments have cetrainly helped to improve the 3 Carnegie Library buildings and ensure they are fit for purpose moving forward!

P
age 29



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 
Merthyr Tydfil Public Libraries  

Welsh Public Library Standards Future Direction 

[Type text] 
 

 

Merthyr Tydfil Public Library Service, as part of Wellbeing@Merthyr, are aware of the challenges 

that low budgets and low staffing can bring. We have been pleased that during our self-assessment 

of the new Framework we are reporting a solid basis on which to build. 

 As reported in the previous Future Direction statement 17-18, it would be erroneous to suggest that 

in the current financial climate there will be significant investment, and no doubt there will be 

continuing pressures on the current budgets. However there is still commitment from the Board of 

Trustees and the Local authority to support library services in Merthyr Tydfil in the coming years and 

a recognition of their statutory nature. 

Co-location has improved services over the past framework and a new community library has 

opened in a school, run by volunteers but supported with staff time and stock from the main library 

service. The work at this service point has stalled over recent months with a new head teacher and 

school structure being put in place but it is hoped that this will restart in the next few months as 

things settle for the school inn question. When fully operational we hope to start reporting on it. 

The extension to this framework, as recently discussed in the SCL meeting is also welcomed as it will 

allow us to consolidate our offer and measure our impacts with a focus on the Wellbeing of Future 

Generations Act (Wales) and Ways of Working. 

Merthyr Tydfil Library Service benefits from a strong, committed team and the support of the staff 

as our most valued resource will help us to deliver against the Welsh Public Library Standards. Our 

focus for the next year will be embedding the Ways of Working and the Wellbeing of Future 

Generations Act (Wales) into our service delivery, refocussing our delivery plans and strategy to 

more clearly define the links and demonstrating our value to partners as a service in social 

prescribing.  We will continue to develop services in line with the WPLS and will be working cross-

sectorally to support some exciting developments around Heritage and Local History in the local 

area, alongside promoting reading and children’s services that we have been concentrating on for 

the last year or so. We will be continuing to develop our offer for schools and individuals and while 

we may be constrained in some ways by our staffing levels and budgets, we believe we can achieve 

an excellent service for those who live, work or visit the borough. 

 

 

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
Merthyr Tydfil Public Libraries  

Welsh Public Library Standards Narrative 

[Type text] 
 

The updated well-being objectives in the Programme for Government highlights the following key 

areas for action. 

The well-being objectives are:  

 Support people and businesses to drive prosperity 

 Tackle regional inequality and promote fair work 

 Drive sustainable growth and combat climate change 

 Deliver quality health and care services fit for the future 

 Promote good health and well-being for everyone  

 Build healthier communities and better environments  

 Support young people to make the most of their potential  

 Build ambition and encourage learning for life  

 Equip everyone with the right skills for a changing world 

 Build resilient communities, culture, and language  

 Deliver modern and connected infrastructure  

 Promote and protect Wales’ place in the world  

These objectives are focused on a Wales that is healthy and active, prosperous and secure, 

ambitious and learning, and united and connected, and are underpinned by the wellbeing of Future 

Generations Act. 

In light of this the local authority has developed its own focus on four key objectives: 

Best Start to Life (BS) 

Children get the best start to life 

Children and young people are equipped with the skills they need to be successful  learners and 

confident individuals 

Working Life (WL) 

Making skills work for Merthyr Tydfil: Developing the workforce of the future 

Developing the environment and infrastructure for business to flourish 

Environmental Wellbeing (EW) 

Communities protect, enhance and promote our natural environment and countryside 

Communities protect, develop and promote our heritage and cultural assets 

Page 33



 

 
Merthyr Tydfil Public Libraries  

Welsh Public Library Standards Narrative 

[Type text] 
 

Living Well (LW) 

Developing safer communities 

People have good physical and mental health 

People live independently 

The authority has further developed its visual representation of how this fits with the wellbeing plan: 

 

All priority outcomes link through to the Programme for Government and so by concentrating on 

those which are specific to Merthyr Tydfil’s Local Wellbeing plan we are also contributing to the 

wider agenda in Wales. The contribution of Library services to each of the wellbeing goals has been 

clearly documented through the document ‘Connected and Ambitious Libraries’ and how the 

framework further supports this. Each of the local objectives within Merthyr Tydfil is able to be 

clearly supported by activity and contributions from Library services. The list is certainly not 

exhaustive and each aspect fits more than one of the key priority outcomes on a local level, so have 

been grouped together to avoid duplication: 

Page 34



 

 
Merthyr Tydfil Public Libraries  

Welsh Public Library Standards Narrative 

[Type text] 
 

 We have maintained and expanded our online free reference facilities for all members. As 

far as possible we make them available for home use 24/7, so that they are there whenever 

the user might wish to use them.  

 We maintain free computer facilities in our buildings, open and available whenever the 

libraries are.  

 We have subscriptions to ebook, emagazine and  eAudio service which is free for all our 

members. Whilst the majority of items included are recreational fiction or non fiction, it also 

includes a selection of study aids and self help stock, which are free to access and use. 

 We continue to develop our links with organisations and community groups using the 

facilities in all borough libraries.  

 We provide outreach sets of quick reads, graded readers and other materials for adult 

learners at all levels.   

 We hold large collections of Welsh learners materials, and work to provide as much stock in 

Welsh as we can, and to promote its use to those in the area. 

 We continue to promote recreational personal reading as well as reading linked to study, as 

is evidenced in our significant investment of staff and time in the annual summer reading 

scheme for children.  

 We actively promote digital inclusion across all libraries through a variety of classes, 

activities and events. These are run through a variety of volunteer and staff sessions. All are 

involved in learning themselves and encouraging learning for life in others.  

 We work closely with Voluntary Action Merthyr Tydfil (VAMT) to find, teach and develop the 

use  of volunteers in many areas of the library service, so that we benefit from their 

experiences and knowledge, and they benefit from working with us and developing their 

skills.  

 We have hosted a variety of classes for adults, ranging from computing, Crochet and 

Knitting, Stop Smoking, Mindfulness, ESOL and many others. The occasional events have 

included poetry afternoons, writing workshops and local history walk and talk days.  

 We are a key player in the promotion and delivery of the Bookstart scheme locally, and use 

our contacts to encourage family learning amongst the recipients of the packs.  

Page 35



 

 
Merthyr Tydfil Public Libraries  

Welsh Public Library Standards Narrative 

[Type text] 
 

 We have good relationships with many local schools and teachers and have developed these 

relationships further through reading groups in schools, young librarian training days, writing 

and reading activities and many other events and activities. 

 Merthyr Tydfil was one of the pilot authorities for the ECALM project and we are very 

committed to continuing this project. 

 We make sure that the recognised sets of Books on Prescription and Reading Well titles are 

not only easily available for all buildings when a prescription is presented, but also that the 

most commonly used titles are also available on open shelves for anyone to access and 

borrow, even without a prescription.  

 We have specific staff task groups who do outreach work promoting literacy within the 

community, working with schools and other groups. 

 We have special stock collections to support work on the various possible ‘life issues’ such as 

eating disorders, bullying, addictions.  

 We are continuing our work with the national GP exercise referral scheme co-ordinators. 

 Staff have undertaken training to deliver physical literacy sessions. In addition staff have 

undertaken Health Walk training and are using this to develop a set of sessions based 

around local history, with the title ‘From Talking Books to Walking Books’ and based on the 

local history stock items. 

 We have developed new links with Active Merthyr and trialled ‘Bringing Books To Life’ 

sessions combining physical literacy, craft and literacy activities and done this with different 

age groups. We now also loan packs for parents and children based on physical literacy and 

reading to get active at home, which include games and play ideas. 

 We promote and train users to access sites such as ‘Add to Your Life’ to help empower 

people to make the right choices towards healthier lifestyles.  

 We work hard to ensure that no-one is excluded from being able to use our services. We 

have the transitional lending scheme so that even children whose parents are unwilling to 

complete a membership form may still borrow from us.  

 We work with many groups such as Drink Wise Age Well, Stop Smoking and MIND to deliver 

sessions in libraries 

Page 36



 

 
Merthyr Tydfil Public Libraries  

Welsh Public Library Standards Narrative 

[Type text] 
 

 We are Dementia Friendly throughout the Library with 100% of the staff having undertaken 

the Dementia Friends training 

 We have a specific home delivery service to anyone who cannot otherwise gain access to 

library stock.  

 We provide stock in Polish specifically to cater for the many migrant workers in the area, as 

well as a number of dual language books for children.  

 We also have Portuguese stock for adults and children. 

 We provide, where required and available, dual language Bookstart books in Bookstart 

packs. 

 The Library Service manages the main local studies collection for the local area and has 

significant underlying involvement with tourism.  

 We operate a bookshop that sells any in-print publications on Merthyr Tydfil alongside our 

own publications. 

 Internet services are widely used by migrant workers and students. 

 We play a key role in the development of events and celebrations of cultural diversity in 

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough, particularly annual events such as Holocaust Memorial Day 

run by the Library service.  

 We support job seekers and claimants through targeted classes and drop in sessions and 

signpost users to agencies and organisations that can further help them 

Library services in Merthyr Tydfil are supporting the programme for Government and corporate 

priority outcomes across the authority, with 88% of households able to access a building with full 

services. The value of what we do is generally recognised corporately and support for services has 

grown over many years. However, the service is currently challenged to keep levels where there are 

with reducing budgets especially in staffing. The service is committed to providing a quality customer 

experience and will continue to do this to the best of its ability. 

Much of the work carried out in the last year and moving forward into the next will naturally feed 

into each of the goals but will have more focus on the following key areas as we develop our work 

with children and young people and community engagement: 

 Best start to life 

Page 37



 

 
Merthyr Tydfil Public Libraries  

Welsh Public Library Standards Narrative 

[Type text] 
 

 Living Well 

There is a general feeling however in the area that the focus on these wellbeing objectives has been 

a good thing for Libraries and has raised the profile internally around the contributions made 

through the services provided. 

 

Page 38



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Draft Annual Governance Statement for Financial 
Year 2018/2019 
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 The purpose of the report is to provide Scrutiny Committee with the opportunity to 

challenge and contribute to the contents of the Annual Governance Statement for 
2018/2019. 

 

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that 
 
2.1 Scrutiny Committee receive the draft Annual Governance Statement for challenge 

and contribute to the content and production of the Annual Governance Statement 
for 2018/2019. 

 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 The Accounts and Audit (Wales) Regulations 2014 as amended 2018 require that 

Council annually approve an Annual Governance Statement (AGS) for each financial 
year and that the AGS accompanies the audited Statement of Accounts. 
 

3.2 The information that is taken into consideration when producing the Annual 
Governance Statement includes performance management information, work 
completed by the Internal Audit Service, work completed by the external auditors and 
other external inspection agencies, scrutiny work, risk management and the internal 
control framework including procedures, policies, codes of conduct and financial 
management controls as outlined in the CIPFA/SOLACE guidance. 

Date Written 17th June 2019 

Report Author G Evans 

Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 

Committee Date 02nd July 2019 

Page 39

Agenda Item 4



3.3 The Internal Audit Service and key officers of the Council carried out a review based 
on CIPFA/SOLACE guidance to ensure that evidence was in place to support the 
production of the Annual Governance Statement, to identify gaps where that was not 
the case and the review the effectiveness of existing arrangements. This was 
undertaken as in previous years by utilising a spreadsheet based checklist that was 
circulated to the key officers (including members of the Corporate Management 
Team) for completion and also by providing follow up meetings/correspondence with 
Internal Audit staff to provide support where required. 

 
3.4 This work has culminated in the production of a draft version of the Annual 

Governance Statement (AGS) which has been shared with the external auditors and 
is presented today for consultation and discussion to receive the views and input of 
the Scrutiny Committee on the contents of the draft statement and significant 
governance issues identified. Any comments and suggestions will be incorporated 
where applicable into the AGS. 

 
3.5 The draft Annual Governance Statement has also been presented to Corporate 

Management Team and the Audit Committee for consideration and input and will be 
updated accordingly as deemed required. 

 
3.6 The final version of the Annual Governance Statement including the significant 

governance issues will be presented to Full Council in September 2019 and 
published with the Statement of Accounts. 

 

4.0 FORMAT OF ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 
 
4.1 A standard format for the Annual Governance Statement has been produced by the 

Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) / the Society of Local 
Authority Chief Executives and Senior Managers (SOLACE) as shown below: 
1) Scope of Responsibility. 
2) The Purpose of the Governance Framework. 
3) The Governance Framework (including a description of the key elements of the 

systems and processes). 
4) Review of Effectiveness. 
5) Significant Governance Issues. 
6) Significant Governance Issues reported in the previous year’s Statement 

including a positional update. 
 
4.2 It is important to recognise that the Annual Governance Statement covers all 

significant corporate systems, processes and controls spanning the whole range of 
the Council’s activities including in particular those designed to ensure that: 

 The Council’s policies are implemented in practice. 

 High-quality services are delivered efficiently and effectively. 

 The Authority’s values and ethical standards are met. 

 Laws and regulations are complied with. 

 Required processes are adhered to. 

 Performance statements and other published information are accurate and 
reliable. 

 Human, financial and other resources are managed efficiently and effectively. 

Page 40



4.3 The Annual Governance Statement should be approved at a meeting of the Full 
Council or delegated committee and signed by the Chief Executive (or equivalent) 
and the Leading Member (or equivalent) on behalf of the Authority. 

 

5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S) 
 
5.1 There are none specifically identified within this report. 

 
 
ELLIS COOPER 
DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

COUNCILLOR ANDREW BARRY 
CABINET MEMBER FOR GOVERNANCE 

AND CORPORATE SERVICES  
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

CIPFA/SOLACE 
guidance 

 
AGS evidence file and 

working papers 
 

 
 
 

2018/2019 financial year 

Internal Audit Office 
 
 

Internal Audit Office 

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

  
 

Page 41



This page is intentionally left blank



                
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

DRAFT  

ANNUAL GOVERNANCE 

STATEMENT 

2018/19 
 
 

 
 

 

May 2019 

 

Page 43



 

1 

 

MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

DRAFT ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 2018/19 

 

1.  SCOPE OF RESPONSIBILITY 

 

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council (the Council) is responsible for ensuring that its business is 

conducted in accordance with the law and proper standards, and that public money is safeguarded 

and properly accounted for, and used economically, efficiently and effectively. 

 

The Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 requires the Council to set and publish 

wellbeing objectives and to identify how it will work towards meeting those objectives using the 

sustainable development principle.  Public bodies in Wales must work in a sustainable way to 

achieve the common vision to improve the economic, social, cultural and environmental wellbeing 

of Wales. Therefore, we need to make sure that when we make decisions, we take into account the 

impact they could have on the people living their lives in Merthyr Tydfil now and in the future. 

 

Public bodies covered by the Act, including Local Government are required to consider the longer 

term in making their decisions and to work collaboratively with other public bodies to improve 

wellbeing in Wales.  The Act places a wellbeing duty to set wellbeing objectives that maximise their 

contribution to achieving wellbeing goals.  Public bodies’ first wellbeing objectives were set and 

published by 31st March 2017.  Public bodies are required to report annually on their progress 

towards meeting their wellbeing objectives. 

 

The Act also establishes public service boards (PSB’s) for each Local Authority area.  The Cwm Taf 

Public Services Board (PSB) is a collection of public bodies working together to improve the 

economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being of people who live, work and visit the 

Cwm Taf areas of Rhondda Cynon Taf and Merthyr Tydfil.  Each PSB is required to improve the 

economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being of its areas by working to achieve the 

wellbeing goals.  PSB’s contribution to achievement of the goals must include preparing and 

publishing an assessment of local wellbeing by May 2017, preparing and publishing a local 

wellbeing plan by May 2018 and preparation of an annual progress report specifying the steps it 

has taken, since publishing its most recent local well-being plan, to meet the objectives set out in 

the plan. 

 

The Act is central to the Welsh Government’s long-term policy for the public services and its 

themes tie in with the International Framework: Good Governance in the Public Sector (CIPFA – the 

Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy/IFAC – International Federation of 

Accountants, 2014), on which the Delivering Good Governance in Local Government: Framework 

(CIPFA/SOLACE – the Society of Local Authority Chief Executives and Senior Managers, 2016) is 

based. 

 

Page 44



 

2 

 

In discharging this overall responsibility, the Council is responsible for putting in place proper 

arrangements for the governance of its affairs, and facilitating the effective exercise of its 

functions, which includes arrangements for the management of risk. 

 

Guidance has been issued called Delivering Good Governance in Local Government: Framework 

(CIPFA/SOLACE, 2016) and applies to annual governance statements prepared for the financial 

year 2016/17 onwards. 

 

The Council has a Local Code of Corporate Governance in place.  This is currently being reviewed 

to determine what changes may be necessary to reflect the requirements of Delivering Good 

Governance in Local Government: Framework (CIPFA/SOLACE, 2016).  

 

This Annual Governance Statement explains how the Council has complied with the CIPFA/SOLACE 

Delivering Good Governance in Local Government: Framework (2016) and also meets the 

requirements of Part 2 of the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015. 

 

2.  THE PURPOSE OF THE GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK 

 

Governance is about how local government bodies ensure that they are doing the right things, in 

the right way, for the right people, in a timely, inclusive, open, honest and accountable manner.  

A governance framework comprises the systems and processes, and culture and values, by which 

the Council and its activities are directed and controlled.  It also embodies the way in which it 

accounts to, engages with, and leads the community.  It enables the Council to monitor the 

delivery of its wellbeing objectives and priorities and to consider whether this has led to improved 

outcomes for the citizen.  The system of internal control is a significant part of that framework and 

is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level.  It cannot eliminate all risk of failure to achieve 

policies or deliver its objectives and can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute 

assurance of effectiveness.  

 

The system of internal control is based on an ongoing process designed to identify and prioritise 

the risks to the achievement of the Council’s policies, wellbeing objectives and priorities.  It also 

evaluates the likelihood of those risks being realised and the associated impact should they occur, 

and identifies how the risks will be managed.  

 

The Council has responsibility for conducting, at least annually, a review of the effectiveness of its 

governance framework including the system of internal control.  The review of effectiveness is 

informed by the work conducted by external agencies and internal arrangements, including 

performance management arrangements. 

 

A governance framework has been in place at the Council for the year ended 31st March 2019 and 

up to the date of approval of the Annual Governance Statement and Statement of Accounts. 

 

 

Page 45



 

3 

 

3.  THE GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK 

 

The following is a description of the structures and processes that comprise the Council’s 

governance arrangements including arrangements for:   

 

a) Behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to ethical values, and 

respecting the rule of law. 

 

All Councillors and Officers in the Council are required to comply with the relevant Codes of 

Conduct as set out in the Constitution, which details the particular roles and responsibilities of 

Councillors and Officers. 

 

The Code of Conduct and Declaration of Interests form part of the Councillor’s Induction Process.   

Councillors are expected to declare to an appropriate Director or Manager and in the Register of 

Interests any financial/non-financial interests which could conflict the Council’s interests. 

Councillors must also declare any offers/ acceptance of hospitality.  

 

The Council has confirmed a number of Core Values and associated behaviours: 

 

 Honesty & Openness 

 Trust & Respect  

 Accountability 

 Learning 

 Aspiration 

 Team Working 

 Communication 

 

The Council has formed a Standards Committee to promote and maintain high ethical principles 

and these are enshrined within the Code of Conduct for Councillors.  All Councillors have to agree 

to follow the Code of Conduct to ensure high standards in the way they undertake their duties. 

The Standards Committee is responsible for training and advising Councillors on the Code of 

Conduct. 

 

All new starters within the Council are provided with a Staff Handbook which provides a summary 

of the Council’s relevant policies and working practices.  Included within the Handbook is a 

summary of the Employee Code of Conduct. The complete Employee Code of Conduct is also 

available on the Council’s Intranet site.   

 

The Head of Legal and Democratic Services is the Monitoring Officer for the Council, with the 

specific responsibility for ensuring that the Council, its Officers and its Councillors maintain the 

highest standards of conduct in all they do as per Section 5 of The Local Government and Housing 

Act 1989 and as amended by schedule 5 paragraph 24 of the Local Government Act 2000.  

Page 46



 

4 

 

The functions of the Monitoring Officer include support to the Standards Committee in its 

promotion of high standards; acting on Ombudsman reports; and conducting investigations into 

certain categories of complaints against councillors remitted by the Ombudsman.  Any complaints 

received against Councillors are referred to the Ombudsman for investigation.  Complaints are 

only referred to the Standards Committee if the Ombudsman felt there was an appropriate 

outcome to do so.  The statistics for complaints made against Councillors during 2018/19 were not 

available at the time the draft AGS was compiled but are in the process of being collated and will 

be available and included in the final version.   

 

An updated induction process has been implemented for all newly elected Councillors.  This 

includes a list of obligatory training sessions for the elected Councillors to attend.  All elected 

Councillors were required to attend obligatory training with regards to Councillors Code of 

Conduct, Standards and Ethics and the role of Councillors in Planning Committee and Data 

Protection.  Other training offered during the first phase of induction included: 

 

 Introduction to Scrutiny 

 Wellbeing and Future Generations (Wales) Act 

 Equalities, Welsh Language and Risk Management 

 Health and Safety (including the Council’s Lone Worker Facility) 

 Social Media 

 Licensing Committee 

 

Including the obligatory sessions referred to above, a total of 34 training events were offered 

during the first six months which resulted in an overall attendance of 52%.  A breakdown of 

individual Councillors’ attendance is recorded and monitored.  In 2018, every elected Councillor 

will be subject to an individual Training Needs Analysis, and asked if there is any specific training 

required to assist with their continued learning and development.  A training matrix is maintained 

which records all training undertaken by Councillors.   This process will help Councillors identify 

their key strengths, consider their continued development needs and what support may be 

required to meet their personal objectives and deliver the Council’s corporate vision.    

 

Cabinet members are actively involved in reviewing the Council's core values to underpin all 

Council business. 

 

Senior Managers have undertaken a range of courses under the banner of the Managers Academy 

to ensure skills and knowledge are updated and refreshed.    

 

The Council’s Procurement Strategy requires that all procurement activity will be undertaken to the 

highest standards of probity and professionalism and that Councillors and Officers will be fair and 

ethical and will avoid conduct that may contradict this or suggest a conflict of interest.  

 

Page 47



 

5 

 

The Procurement Team will comply with the CIPS (Chartered Institute of Procurement and Supply) 

code of ethics and promote this throughout the Council to all members of staff that have a 

responsibility to commit expenditure. 

 

To support the management of risk, Key Partners are identified within each of the Councils Risk 

Registers.  The Council has developed an Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) which incorporates 

the Council's Wellbeing Objectives, the Sustainable Development principle (the five ways of 

working), Welsh Language, Equalities and Biodiversity, to support effective decision making and 

ensuring compliance with other pieces of legislation that the Council is subject to. This has been 

applied to business cases and projects as part of the Councils project management framework.  

The implementation of the IIA was approved by Cabinet in September 2018 and was introduced 

for Council & Cabinet Reports as of October 2018.  

 

The Council operates an in-house Internal Audit Service that is compliant with the Public Sector 

Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS). The Internal Audit Service undertakes a comprehensive annual 

programme of work based upon a risk assessed plan.  

 

The Council is a participant in the National Fraud Initiative (NFI) and the work of Internal Audit 

includes processing the National Fraud Initiative data matches and other relevant work. 

 

The Council has an operating and effective Audit Committee that is compliant with the Local 

Government Measure (Wales) 2011 and the Accounts and Audit Regulations (Wales) 2014 as 

amended in 2018.  The Committee Terms of Reference are compliant with best practice guidance. 

The Council's External Auditors undertake a comprehensive annual programme of work that they 

report on.   

 

The Council's Financial Procedure Rules and Constitution documents contain guidance and 

instruction for staff and also detail the arrangements in place. 

 

The Council has an Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policy in place. This is currently being reviewed to 

ensure it remains up-to-date and effective.   

 

The Council has a Whistleblowing Policy in place encouraging staff to raise any concerns they may 

have regarding malpractice within the Council.  The Policy is periodically publicised to remind staff 

about making referrals if the need be.   

  

Page 48



 

6 

 

b) Ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement. 

 

A series of new engagement and consultation activities have been adopted by the Council in 

compliance with the Consultation Charter.  Consultation and engagement is one of the main tools 

the Council uses to inform and understand the opinions and views of local residents, customers 

and other stakeholders within the County Borough. The Council has developed a Communications, 

Consultation and Engagement Strategy which applies to all work streams that require engagement 

and consultation activities.  In line with the Communications, Consultation and Engagement 

Strategy, the Council is continually reviewing their communication and engagement channels.  

These include:  

 

 Contact Magazine  Council’s Website 

 Council’s internal Intranet  Electronic Signage Facilities  

 Use of local, regional and national 

media 

 Use of service users for planning 

groups 

 Chief Executive’s Core brief 

 Social Media including Facebook 

and Twitter 

 

 Improved telecommunication access 

channels 

 Specific consultation on change 

programmes e.g. Chief Executive 

Information Sessions, Chief Executives 

Blog 

 Face to face engagement session such 

as drop in sessions and roadshows 

 

The public were engaged as part of the process to undertake the Wellbeing Assessment to inform 

the Wellbeing Plan on behalf of the Public Services Board (PSB) and further engagement and 

consultation was undertaken to inform the Council’s Wellbeing Statement and objectives linked to 

the Wellbeing of Future Generations Act. 

 

There are clear channels of communication in place corporately for all consultation and 

engagement activity.  This is done through the Smart Survey, Council’s website 

(www.merthyr.gov.uk), social media sites and the Contact Community magazine.  In addition to 

this, there is a citizen panel for Merthyr Tydfil and a combined panel with Rhondda Cynon Taff CBC 

to ensure that the Council is consulting and engaging with all sections of the community.  

 

Responsibility for consultation and engagement sits with the Corporate Communications and 

Consultation Team within the Council.   

 

The Council has also confirmed a number of Core Values and associated behaviours including 

Honesty and Openness, and Communication.  

 

The Council is proactive with all consultation and engagement across the Cwm Taf Footprint 

through closer partnership working via the Strategic and Practitioners Public Engagement Group 

meetings.  The level of engagement has improved significantly through the Public Service Board 

Cwm Taf footprint with the launch of the Cwm Taf portal.  Internally, the Council has developed 

Page 49



 

7 

 

more robust consultation and engagement processes and procedures through working with an 

accredited Consultation and Engagement Consultant. 

 

Regular progress updates are provided on all communication and consultation activity internally 

through Corporate Management Team, Senior Leadership Team, Communications and 

Consultation Sub Group, the Change Programme Steering Group and the Change Programme 

Board.  Progress on certain consultation exercises are also communicated back to the Cwm Taf 

Public Engagement Group. 

 

The Public Service Board represents a statutory partnership of public and voluntary sector 

organisations.  Wide ranging consultation was undertaken during the development of the Cwm Taf 

Wellbeing Assessment and the development of the Cwm Taf Wellbeing Plan. 

 

To support the work of the Wellbeing Plan, an Involvement, Communication and Engagement 

Group (ICE) has been set - up as part of the Public Service Board.  A Communication, Consultation 

and Engagement Strategy have been developed to ensure that the work of the PSB is understood 

and its aim of changing the way we serve the public. 

 

In preparing the Wellbeing Assessment the PSB talked to hundreds of people who live, work and 

use public services across the Cwm Taf area, community groups and members of our communities 

who wanted to have their say. The findings from the Assessment were used to help start a more 

detailed work to find out what was important to communities and what can be done to improve 

people’s well-being. The Wellbeing Assessment will be used across public services to inform 

design and delivery of services. To ensure that everyone is able to work together to improve well-

being in Cwm Taf, the Public Services Board is supported in engagement and communications by 

officers from PSB member organisations. 

 

All Council agendas, reports and minutes are available on the Council’s website as they are 

published and Full Council and Planning Committee meetings are webcast.  Consideration is 

currently being given to webcasting Scrutiny Committees.  Further to this, all agendas are 

published in both the Welsh and English language.  

 

The Council operates a corporate complaints policy and a social services complaints policy to 

ensure it effectively deals with any concerns or complaints customers may have about services 

provided by the Council.  

 

The Council adopts a positive attitude towards complaints and views them as a valuable form of 

feedback, which assists in the development and improvement of services.  Complaints also provide 

an opportunity to learn lessons where a service has fallen short of an expected standard.  

 

In 2018/19, a total of 256 corporate complaints were received against the Council; 10 complaints 

were in respect of Merthyr Valleys Homes, complaints were 91 upheld, 96 were not upheld, 15 

were partly upheld, 7 were referred to the Insurance Department, 1 was withdrawn and 36 

Page 50



 

8 

 

complaints were not progressed for a variety of reasons.  Corporate complaints are not being 

reported to Cabinet.  

 

The Council is required by the Social Services Complaints Procedure (Wales) Regulations 2014 and 

the Representations Procedure (Wales) Regulations 2014 to produce an Annual Report about the 

operation of their Social Services Complaints, Representations and Compliments policy and 

procedures.  The report in relation to complaints received during 2017/18 will be presented to 

Cabinet in September 2019. 

 

c) Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable economic, social, and environmental 

benefits. 

 

The Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 requires the Council to set and publish 

wellbeing objectives and to identify how it will work towards meeting those objectives using the 

sustainable development principle. Public bodies in Wales must work in a sustainable way to 

achieve the common vision to improve the economic, social, cultural and environmental wellbeing 

of Wales. Therefore, we need to make sure that when we make decisions, we take into account the 

impact they could have on the people living their lives in Merthyr Tydfil now and in the future. 

 

Public bodies covered by the Act, including Local Government are required to consider the longer 

term in making their decisions and to work collaboratively with other public bodies to improve 

wellbeing in Wales.  The Act places a wellbeing duty to set wellbeing objectives that maximise their 

contribution to achieving wellbeing goals.  Public bodies’ first wellbeing objectives were set and 

published by 31st March 2017.  Public bodies are required to report annually on their progress 

towards meeting their Wellbeing Objectives.  

 

The Council has an approved vision that is at the heart of delivering the local Wellbeing Objectives 

and PSB objectives.  This aligns with the seven Wellbeing Goals and Five Ways of Working (Long 

Term; Preventative; Integration; Involvement; Collaboration).  The Council also has a Statement of 

Wellbeing and a Focus on the Future document that sets out the local Wellbeing Objectives.  A 

PSB Wellbeing Plan has been developed.  There are strategies for each Wellbeing Objective 

underneath the vision with appropriate performance indicators identified.  An extensive exercise 

has been carried out when developing the local Wellbeing objectives and PSB objectives.  This is 

reflected in the PSB Wellbeing Plan and MTCBC Wellbeing Statement and Focus on the Future 

documents.  The same approach is taken to change projects and budget setting.  This is then used 

in setting budgets and local Wellbeing objectives. 

 

For openness and transparency, information supporting all engagement and public consultations, 

is available on the Council's communication channels i.e. Council website, social media sites, 

Facebook and Twitter and via the Smart Survey.  Stakeholders can access these channels to 

feedback in response to any engagement session or public consultation with the opportunity to 

also respond via a paper copy, email or a petition.  All information will be recorded and analysed 

by the Corporate Communications Team, the outcome of which will be forwarded to Senior 

Page 51



 

9 

 

Managers and Politicians at Corporate Management Team and Corporate Leadership Team for 

consideration.  Following this, a report will be presented to Full Council with a recommendation for 

Council to approve.  The outcome and the impact of the decision made will be reported via the 

Council's communication channels. 

 

Performance is monitored through self-assessment and performance challenge. Service 

performance is also challenged at scrutiny committee meetings.   

 

The Council has a Corporate Risk Register in place which is an essential part of the Council's 

corporate governance arrangements.  The Corporate Risk Register is a risk register which allows 

the Council to focus on managing and mitigating the most significant corporate risks that could 

impact on the organisation and/or community.  

 

The Council’s updated Corporate Risk Register is presented to Audit Committee and Cabinet for 

approval, along with an Annual Report on risk management. Reporting on risk management is an 

integral part of the Council’s risk governance arrangements. Lead Corporate Management Team 

Officers are invited to attend Audit Committee on a rolling programme basis to report on progress 

in managing their Corporate Risks. 

  

Budget consultation exercises are held throughout the County Borough in evaluating customer 

priorities for the allocation of scarce resources. These take the form of Cabinet roadshows, on-line 

surveys and social media engagement.  In addition the customer's opinion on Council Tax 

increases in supporting local services is also sought.  This engagement assists in informing the 

Budget Setting process and also informs the customer of the financial pressures faced by the 

Council in allocation of resources to competing demands.  Business cases are developed and 

challenged using the seven Wellbeing Goals, Five Ways of Working, regional Wellbeing Objectives 

and local Wellbeing Objectives.   

 

Extensive public engagement processes are in place, these include managing expectations.  This is 

also true for internal change.  Business cases, project initiation documentation and delivery reports 

include assessments against determining priorities and making the best use of the resources 

available.   

 

The Capital Programme is compiled for a four year period based on proposals submitted by Chief 

Officers/Senior Managers, supported by Cabinet and approved by Council.  Revenue implications 

of capital decisions are included as part of an integrated Medium Term Financial Plan, for example 

capital financing cost implications of borrowing to support the capital expenditure. A significant 

proportion of capital expenditure is funded through external grants received from a number of 

external awarding bodies which are subject to rigorous prescriptive terms and conditions. 

 

The Welsh Procurement Policy Statement is a key driver for procurement activity.  The Council’s 

Procurement Board is driving the application of economic, social and environmental impacts of 

procurement related activity. Community benefits are tested on all contracts over £1mllion. The 

Page 52



 

10 

 

Council collaborates with other public bodies extensively across the procurement portfolio and the 

procurement strategy supports the Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 including 

supplier engagement. Open accessible competition is provided through e-procurement tools 

funded by Welsh Government (Sell2wales, etenderwales, AWARD, marketplace), and simplified 

standardised process are provided through P2P. 

 

When inviting tenders, the process ensures that the most advantageous tender is approved and 

stipulates conditions in respect of complying with the Council's wellbeing objectives and the 

Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 as appropriate.   

 

In terms of ensuring fair access to services the Council has adopted a Strategic Equality Plan (SEP) 

for 2016-2020 in line with the requirements of the Equality Act 2010.   The SEP sets out the 

following Equalities Vision for Merthyr Tydfil: 

 

"A place where diversity is valued and respected and everyone can participate, flourish and have the 

opportunity to fulfil their potential free from discrimination and prejudice." 

 

This Vision is supported by the following four Equality Objectives that are set out in the Plan: 

 

 Equality Objective 1 - Community Engagement: 

Put citizens’ voices at the heart of local decision making so that their contribution is 

understood, recognised and used to help the Council understand and respond to the 

needs of its communities. 

 Equality Objective 2 - Equality Awareness Raising: 

To support and facilitate Equalities training and learning opportunities so that staff at all 

levels, Councillors and partners recognise and incorporate Equalities as part of their role. 

 Equality Objective 3 - Understanding our Staff and Communities:  

Develop robust monitoring systems to collect, collate, monitor and publish equalities data 

on our employees and customers, which will help the Council to ensure that it provides fair 

and accessible services. 

 Equality Objective 4 - Gender/Equal Pay: 

Ensure equity of pay across Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council. 

 

The Council publishes an Annual Equality Report noting progress across all aspects of its equalities 

work, including progress on delivering its Equality Objectives in line with the Public Sector Equality 

Duty. 

 

The Council has approved its Welsh Language Promotional Strategy. The Strategy sets out the 

following Welsh language Vision for Merthyr Tydfil:  

 

“A place which promotes the use of the Welsh language and treats the Welsh and English languages 

on the basis of equality”. 

 

Page 53



 

11 

 

This will be achieved by enabling and encouraging: 

 The broad provision of Welsh language education throughout the County Borough. 

 The opportunities for people to use Welsh at work, at home and at play. 

 The perception of languages as life skills, which enriches the lives of those who use them. 

 People throughout the County Borough to feel pride in their language, and confidence to 

use it. 

 

It is the Council’s vision to encourage a cultural change in the way that the two languages of Wales 

are perceived in this County Borough. “We want to make a difference." 

 

d) Determining the interventions necessary to optimise the achievement of the intended 

outcomes. 

 

The delivery of corporate change is monitored and supported via the Change Management 

Steering Group as part of the procurement framework and governance arrangements.  This group 

comprises of professionals from across the Council, e.g. Legal, Procurement, Risk, Equalities, 

Performance, Finance, Corporate Communications, HR, Business Change and Project Management 

(as part of the procurement framework and governance arrangements).  Following delivery, the 

Budget Board monitors the financial position.  Performance is monitored through self-assessment 

and performance challenge (however this is not across all service areas due to the timeline for 

development of the Focus on the Future Wellbeing plan).  Service performance is also challenged 

at Scrutiny Committee meetings.  

 

The challenge of documents is carried out by various relevant Boards as part of the governance 

arrangements.  All reports to Cabinet and Council require an Equalities Impact Assessment.  The 

challenge against the Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 is done as part of this 

process.   

 

The Council has a project management framework that assesses risk, resources and finance (as well 

as other elements of the proposal).  The business case template sets out each option for appraisal.  

The project initiation documentation sets out timescales and additional information as required.   

 

Corporate Management Team assess reports prior to Cabinet and Council with feedback from 

documentation and Boards being available.   

 

In addressing budget reduction requirements business cases consist of a number of options 

complete with risk and equality assessments and projected timelines for achievement. 

 

Feedback from any public engagement and consultation process including Budget Consultation is 

analysed by the Communication, Consultation and Engagement Department and a report of the 

findings will be considered by Corporate Management Team and Cabinet members.  Following this 

an additional report will be presented to Full Council for a decision to be made.  The outcome of 

Page 54



 

12 

 

this decision will be communicated to all stakeholders via the Council's communication channels 

i.e. Council website, Social media sites and Contact community magazine. 

 

On request from our residents, additional information and events are held with support from the 

Council's Cabinet. 

 

Internal engagement with staff is undertaken via the Council's Intranet, Chief Executive’s Blogs, 

Roadshows, staff emails and staff forums. 

 

Planning and control cycles that cover strategic and operational plans, priorities and targets have 

been established. These are currently delivered as part of Corporate Management Team and 

Scrutiny functions.  Education and Social Services have additional control cycles to meet external 

requirements (including safeguarding protocols).   

 

Appropriate local performance indicators (as well as relevant statutory or other national 

performance indicators) are used to identify how the performance of services and projects are to 

be measured.  

 

As part of the Strategy on a Page Development a full review of Performance, Scrutiny, Partnerships, 

Welsh Language, Business Change, Risk and Equalities Team has taken place to ensure capacity 

exists to generate the information required to review service quality regularly. 

 

The Medium Term Financial Plan aids financial planning and corporate decision making and is 

integrated with the Council’s Wellbeing Objectives, Asset Management Plan, Strategic Workforce 

Plan, Financial Context, Revenue Budget, Capital Programme, Reserves Strategy and Treasury 

Management Policy. 

 

The Council's Medium Term Financial Plan is for a four year period integrating revenue 

expenditure and capital plans linked to strategic objectives. The Capital Programme is set for four 

years. Four year budget requirement projections are compiled for revenue indicating projected 

budget deficits for years two to four.  In determining affordability of the Council's plans, the 

Medium Term Financial Plan is compiled on the basis of projected funding received from Welsh 

Government. This informs the amount of available resources for Council services in defining the 

affordability envelope. 

 

Professionally qualified and part qualified Accountants work with Service Managers in establishing 

budget requirements and identifying the impact of proposed budget reductions. Timelines are 

communicated along with expectations. The Medium Term Financial Plan marries capital ambitions 

with revenue implications over the four year period of the plan. 

 

Although the Medium Term Financial Plan currently only indicates projected budget deficits for 

year’s two to four, a sensitivity analysis in respect of Welsh Government Funding and Council Tax 

Page 55



 

13 

 

increases allow the impact of changes in the external environment to be determined.  This 

provides further meaningful information to the decision maker. 

 

e) Developing the entity’s capacity, including the capability of its leadership and the 

individuals within it. 

 

Operations, performance and use of assets are reviewed on a regular basis to ensure their 

continuing effectiveness. 

 

Delivery of corporate change is monitored and supported by the Change Management Steering 

Group as part of the procurement framework and governance arrangements. Following delivery of 

change, the Budget Board monitors the financial position. Performance is monitored through self-

assessment and performance challenge. Service performance is also challenged at Scrutiny 

Committee meetings.  

 

The Corporate Asset Management Plan (2014-19) sets out the Councils five year plan for managing 

its assets. This is reviewed regularly to ensure that the property portfolio is closely aligned to 

service requirements and corporate priorities. There is a robust property review exercise in place 

which analyses service requirements recommending property rationalisation where appropriate 

and delivers on the release of surplus property to fund the capital programme. 

 

Assets surplus to requirements are continuously reviewed and recommended for sale where 

appropriate. 

 

Benchmarking and horizon scanning techniques are used in the development of strategies and 

business cases for change.  Benchmarking with other Local Authorities, Public Sector and Private 

Sector is undertaken where appropriate when budget saving proposals are presented. In addition 

benchmarking information is used in supporting the 'Income Management and Cost Recovery 

Policy' to assist in evaluating the extent to which services with an income stream are recovering 

costs. This then informs proposals for increases in fees and charges. Benchmarking is also utilised 

to assess Value for Money of Council Services, for example educational attainment. 

 

In terms of effective operation of partnerships the Council has a Risk Category Checklist as part of 

its risk identification process.  The Checklist includes the following in relation to partnership related 

risks: 

 

 Consideration  of, for example,  the impact of working with private and/or public sector 

organisations, accountability frameworks and partnership boundaries, large-scale projects 

with joint ventures, outsourced services, relationship management, change control/exit 

strategies, business continuity and contractual liabilities. 

 

The updated Checklist also forms part of the Council's revised Project Management Framework.   

 

Page 56



 

14 

 

The Council has developed an Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) which incorporates the Council's 

Wellbeing Objectives, the Sustainable Development principle (the five ways of working), Welsh 

Language, Equalities and Biodiversity, to support effective decision making and ensuring 

compliance with other pieces of legislation that the Council is subject to.  

 

The IIA also includes partnership risk as part of the five ways of working. The IIA asks the following 

under Collaboration (Actively working together with other partners (internal and external) to 

deliver wellbeing objectives):  

 

•  Do partners identify, understand and manage their role in the partnership in the most 

appropriate way – identifying factors which influence the success of the partnership and 

the relationships, identifying the risks, what might go wrong, what might prevent the 

partnership from achieving its objectives and outcomes?  

 

•  Have the risks associated with creating, establishing, managing and delivering successful 

partnerships been identified and are being managed? Examples of some of the risks that 

could be considered include financial, legal, reputation, resource conflicts, reliance on a 

particular partner, how well other partners are managing risk. 

 

This has been applied to business cases and projects as part of the Councils project management 

framework.  The IIA was introduced for Council & Cabinet Reports as of October 2018.   

 

Political Leaders are aware of the political balance rules and senior salary limitations relating to 

committee membership and they work together to ensure that nominations are made to cover all 

seats on committees, on outside bodies and partnership boards. 

 

With a large number of new Councillors in 2017 there has been intensive work between Senior 

Councillors and Officers to facilitate understanding of roles and the functioning of the 

organisation. 

 

Induction and new Councillor training has taken place together with close working between 

Corporate Management Team and Cabinet including a number of joint meetings being held.   

 

The accountability of the role of Member Champions has been clarified and they will be required 

to report back on the work that they have been involved with and how it has impacted the 

Council's vision and wellbeing objectives.   

 

The Leader and Chief Executive have defined and distinctive leadership roles that are set out in a 

number of areas in the Council's Constitution. This area is being reviewed owing to the 

appointment of new Councillors and the need to more clearly define and distinguish between the 

respective roles and responsibilities.  

 

Page 57



 

15 

 

Senior Managers have undertaken a range of courses under the banner of the externally facilitated 

Managers Academy to ensure skills and knowledge are updated and refreshed.  This has allowed 

the creation of new networks through coaching and action learning sets.   

 

A performance management system has been in place and this has been reviewed with an 

updated performance management appraisal system called Focus on Performance having recently 

been launched. Workshops have been arranged to discuss new templates and how to ensure that 

personal development plans to capture training and development needs are included. 

 

There are a number of health and safety policies in place to help maintain the health and wellbeing 

of the workforce, along with supporting staff in maintaining their own physical and mental 

wellbeing. These policies include: 

 

 Corporate Health & Safety Policy 

 Risk Assessment Policy Procedure & Guidelines,  

 First Aid at Work Policy,  

 Display Screen Equipment Policy,  

 Control  of Substances Hazardous to Health Policy (COSHH); 

 Drug & Alcohol Policy; 

 Lone Worker policy; and 

 Asbestos Management Plan. 

 Workplace Stress Policy 

 

Occupational Health support is available to all staff including assessments by trained medical 

personnel, access to counselling, and workplace/workstation adaptations to comply with disability 

legislation and requirements.  A 24 hours service for advice, information and counselling is 

provided online and by telephone for all Council employed staff to access.  A wellbeing 

Wednesday scheme has been introduced where staff are encourage to undertake activities 

promoted by the Council to enhance their wellbeing. 

 

f) Managing risks and performance through robust internal control and strong public 

financial management. 

 

A Self-Assessment of the Council’s Risk Management arrangements has been undertaken to 

establish the Council’s level of risk maturity. The Council’s level of Risk Maturity was assessed as:  

 

 Risk Management is working and embedded in the organisation  

 

The Wales Audit Office (WAO) has published a National Summary Report in 2017 setting out how 

Councils in Wales are dealing with service change. Several positive examples from Merthyr Tydfil 

County Borough Council are highlighted in the report.  These include the Council’s continued work 

to refine its arrangements through self-review. It also highlights the work that the Council has 

Page 58



 

16 

 

done in restructuring its risk register to reflect the requirements of the Wellbeing of Future 

Generations (Wales) Act 2015. 

 

The Council has a Corporate Risk Register along with Chief Officer and Service Area Risk Registers 

in place. These Risk Registers capture and report on the management of risks and issues that could 

impact on: 

 Delivering the Council’s Wellbeing Objectives. 

 The wellbeing of our communities and future generations. 

 The organisation (MTCBC). 

 

The Council also has an established Equality Impact Assessment process in place enabling report 

authors to identify any threats (negative impacts) and/or opportunities (positive impacts) 

associated with proposals in Council and Cabinet reports that could impact on Protected Groups, 

in line with the requirements of the Equality Act 2010. 

 

Risk Management is a key element of the Council’s Project Management Framework to ensure that 

it is incorporated into all levels of programmes and projects across the Council. Risk Management 

continues to be an integral part of the Council’s Change Programme. This includes having a 

Programme Risk and Issue Log in place that is monitored and reported on a quarterly basis. 

 

As part of the Council’s Scrutiny Work Programme, risks and issues together with the related risk 

mitigation are monitored and reported in the Wellbeing Plan Reports.  These are presented to the 

respective Scrutiny Committees in line with the Council’s Wellbeing Plan. 

 

Risk Management is an integral part of the Councils Procurement Toolkit which helps service 

departments and staff when procuring goods and services. It assists Procurement to manage 

stakeholder expectations, and facilitate outcomes that are within the risk tolerance of the Council.  

 

The Council has an approved Risk Management Strategy that includes a Corporate Risk 

Management Policy Statement.  The Risk Management Policy and Strategy is reviewed annually to 

ensure that it continues to provide an effective process for the systematic identification and 

management of risk within the Council which will ensure that the objectives of the Council’s Risk 

Management Policy are realised.  

 

Each Corporate Risk is allocated to a Portfolio Member, Lead Corporate Management Team Officer 

and Lead Officers to ensure that there are clear lines of responsibility and awareness at all levels of 

the Council.  

 

To support the management of each Corporate Risk, Team Members and Key Partners are also 

identified within the Corporate Risk Register. 

 

Page 59



 

17 

 

Within the Chief Officer and Service Area Risk Registers each risk/issue is allocated to a Risk 

Owner, Team Members and Key Partners.  The risks/issues in the Change Management Programme 

Risk Log have been allocated to the Senior Responsible Officer. 

 

The Budget Board, which includes the Leader of the Council, Cabinet Member for Governance and 

Corporate Services, Chief Executive (Chair), Deputy Chief Executive and Chief Finance Officer, meet 

on a monthly basis to scrutinise service performance against budgets.  Where financial issues exist, 

Chief Officers, with Cabinet Members are invited to Budget Board to provide explanations and 

potential solutions. Cabinet formally consider Budget Monitoring statements on a quarterly basis. 

 

Detailed reports and analysis are provided to Councillors to support decision making along with 

appropriate advice and discussion. 

 

Councillors are provided with electronic access to committee papers as they are published and 

receive ongoing statutory and non-statutory training to support them in their role as decision 

makers.  

 

Business cases in supporting budget reduction proposals provide rationale for options presented 

and recommendations made and include where appropriate benchmarking information, risk and 

equalities assessments. These are considered at Cabinet, Scrutiny Committees, Audit Committee 

and Council and are subject to engagement and consultation with all stakeholders. 

 

The Council has a Risk Category Checklist as part of its risk identification process. This aims to 

ensure that risk identification is undertaken in a structured way to help ensure that all potential 

categories of risk are considered rather than just the initial risks that come to mind. 

 

The Checklist is based on the widely used PESTLE Model (Political, Economic, Social, Technological, 

Legal and Environmental).  The Checklist has been reviewed and updated in consultation with 

service areas across the Council to consider the risk requirements of the Wellbeing of Future 

Generations (Wales) Act 2015. The Checklist has also been updated to reflect other areas of risk in 

relation to partnerships, procurement and reputation, for example. 

 

Culture has also been added as a Risk Category to ensure the Council considers risk from an 

environmental, social, economic and cultural wellbeing perspective. The five ways of working (Long 

Term, Integration, Involvement, Collaboration and Prevention) have also been added to the 

Checklist to ensure they are considered when developing risk action plans. 

 

The Council’s Corporate Risk Register is prepared using a combination of the following risk 

sources: 

 

 Corporate Risks that were identified in the previous year's Corporate Risk Register. 

 An analysis and grouping of:  

Page 60



 

18 

 

o The identified risks that have been scored 12 or above in the Chief Officer and 

Service Risk Registers. 

o The identified issues in the Chief Officer and Service Risk Registers. 

o Risk Identification Workshops for Corporate Management Team and Councillors. 

 

The Council has developed an Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) which incorporates the Council's 

Wellbeing Objectives, the Sustainable Development principle (the five ways of working), Welsh 

Language, Equalities and Biodiversity, to support effective decision making and ensuring 

compliance with other pieces of legislation that the Council is subject to. This has been applied to 

business cases and projects as part of the Councils project management framework.  The IIA was 

introduced for Council & Cabinet Reports as of October 2018.   

 

The Council has six scrutiny committees in place; the Governance, Performance, Business Change 

and Corporate Services Scrutiny Committee; the Learning & LAESCYP Scrutiny Committee; the 

Neighbourhood Services, Planning and Countryside Scrutiny Committee; Regeneration and Public 

Protection (also Crime & Disorder Committee); and the Social Services Scrutiny Committee. These 

committees meet approximately every six weeks.  There is also a Joint Scrutiny Committee with 

membership including all the Scrutiny Councillors and Co-opted members.  The Joint Scrutiny 

Committee meet when there is an issue or item that affects all the scrutiny committees.   The Joint 

Scrutiny Committee met once last year to consider the draft budget proposals.   

 

The Council sets out the respective roles and responsibilities of scrutiny Councillors in the Council’s 

Constitution.  The scrutiny committees are made up of elected local members (Councillors) who 

are not part of the Council’s Cabinet, along with co-opted representatives. Their role is to monitor 

performance, challenge the Council’s spending proposals, review services, contribute to policy 

development, examine the work of other local public service providers and promote public 

engagement in the democratic process. In addition to having publically appointed co-opted 

members of each of the scrutiny committees, there are voluntary sector represented co-opted 

members, and Youth Forum co-opted members.  During 2018/19; a number of issues arose 

relating to attendance of Youth Forum and voluntary sector co-opted members.  To address these, 

some changes were brought into effect in relation to Youth Forum members, and these have led to 

an improvement on a number of the Committees.  A similar process is currently underway in 

relation to the vacancies linked to voluntary sector co-opted members. 

 

All Cabinet decisions are subject to “call-in” by the scrutiny committees. All Councillors are sent a 

link to the Cabinet agenda. Minutes / decision notices are sent to scrutiny members for them to 

decide if they wish to “call-in” a decision.  During 2018-19 no Cabinet decisions have been subject 

to “call-in”. Cabinet members are invited to attend scrutiny committee meetings where they are 

available to respond to challenge on their areas of responsibility, Cabinet Member attendance has 

varied during 2018/19.  It is noted, however, that without an Annual Cabinet Work Programme, 

topics which could be scrutinised earlier in the development process are not received until 7 days 

before the Cabinet meeting takes place.   This minimises the opportunities for scrutiny committees 

to become involved in the planning stages of Cabinet activities. 

Page 61



 

19 

 

The Council’s Wellbeing Objectives were previously regularly reported to all of the scrutiny 

committees as can be evidenced in the meeting agendas and minutes.  This process changed in 

2018/19, where each of the Council’s Wellbeing Objectives were reported on at the Governance, 

Performance, Business Change and Corporate Service Scrutiny Committee.   This change was 

effected to enable every scrutiny committee Chair to receive an update on progress made against 

the Wellbeing Objectives at the same time, thereby reducing the opportunities for a silo approach 

to scrutinising progress made to occur 

 

The Constitution also sets out the terms of reference for the scrutiny committees.  Each year the 

Council’s scrutiny committees produce an Annual Report which includes a retrospective insight 

into the work undertaken by each of the Council’s Scrutiny Committees during the municipal year.  

The Annual Report for 2018/19 will be submitted to Council in July 2019.  

 

The Cwm Taf Joint PSB Scrutiny Committee was established during 2016/17 (MTCBC & RCTCBC) 

with the role of scrutinising and challenging the work of the Cwm Taf Public Services Board. 

Training has been provided to Councillors on the Joint PSB Scrutiny Committee on their role by the 

WLGA.  Following Local Government elections in May 2017 the Council has had a programme of 

training for Councillors. 

 

The Change Management Board members include Cabinet Members.  As such monthly updates 

are received.  Outcomes and progress are reported to Corporate Management Team and Senior 

Leadership Group, again on a monthly basis.  Quarterly reports are provided to Cabinet for 

information on progress.  Progress towards outcome achievement is challenged at governance 

scrutiny committee meetings.  Senior Management meetings are in place for each directorate to 

present reports on service delivery plans.   

 

Budget Setting, Budget Monitoring and Budget Outturn statements follow a consistent template 

which is also the format reported to Budget Board and Cabinet. Delivery of approved savings are 

monitored by Change Management Steering Group and Budget Board. 

 

The Council's Financial Procedure Rules and Constitution documents contain guidance and 

instruction for staff and also detail arrangements in place. They are reviewed periodically to ensure 

they remain fit for purpose and relevant.  Both the Financial Procedure Rules and other elements of 

the Constitution are in need of updating to reflect changes that have taken place in recent years. 

 

Risk Management informs the Internal Audit Plan that is put in place for the year, and each year 

Internal Audit will focus on a number of Corporate Risks as part of their audit work. 

 

The Internal Audit plan is devised using a risk based strategy. Individual Internal Audit reports give 

opinions on risk management and internal control arrangements. The Risk Management function is 

subject to periodic Internal Audit review in line with the Audit Plan. 

 

Page 62



 

20 

 

The Annual Internal Audit Report for the financial year 2017/2018 incorporating the Audit 

Manager’s opinion has been produced and reported to the Council’s Audit Committee.  Based 

upon the work undertaken during the year Internal Audit gave a satisfactory opinion on the 

internal control environment, risk management arrangements and governance arrangements for 

2017/18. 

 

The Council operates an in-house Internal Audit Service that is compliant with the Public Sector 

Internal Audit Standards.  

 

The Council is a participant in the National Fraud Initiative and the work of Internal Audit includes 

processing the National Fraud Initiative data matches and other relevant work. 

 

The Council has and operates a Whistleblowing Policy and Anti-fraud and Corruption Policy that 

includes guidance and the avenues that can be used for reporting fraud to a number of points of 

contact both within the Council and externally e.g. the police, the external auditors, the 

ombudsman etc. 

 

There are a number of measures used within the Revenues and Benefits Service to identify benefit 

and council tax reduction fraud activity and there are defined courses of action to be followed for 

any identified cases that can include court action and criminal prosecution. 

 

The Council has an operating and effective Audit Committee that is compliant with the Local 

Government Measure (Wales) 2011 and the Accounts and Audit Regulations (Wales) 2014.  The 

Committee Terms of Reference are compliant with best practice guidance. 

 

The Audit Committee meets approximately every 6 weeks.  It is independently chaired by a 

member of the non-ruling political group.  Each meeting is attended by Internal Audit and a 

representative from the External Auditors.   All meetings are minuted and open to the public. All 

minutes are published. Minutes and agendas of the meeting are maintained and retained on the 

Council's democratic administration system. Training is provided to Councillors periodically and 

when requested. 

 

Effective arrangements are in place for the safe collection, storage, use and sharing of data, 

including processes to safeguard personal data.  Since the implementation of the General Data 

Protection Regulations (GDPR) on 25th May 2018, the Data Protection Officer has prepared all 

relevant documents and the Information Governance Team continue to offer training to staff and 

Councillors to implement the legislation. Reviews of current data processing have taken place.   

 

The Council is a member of Wales Accord on the Sharing of Personal Information (WASPI) and as 

such will enter into WASPI agreements when sharing information with partners that are also party 

to the accord.  In instances where a data controller is not a member of the WASPI, information 

sharing protocols are in place that will support the sharing of personal information. 

 

Page 63



 

21 

 

Reviewing and auditing the quality and accuracy of data used in decision making and performance 

monitoring forms part of the challenge around quarterly returns, statutory returns, scrutiny 

committee meetings, and self-evaluation and performance board meetings. This work is currently 

being reviewed to align with the Wellbeing of Future Generation (Wales) Act 2015. 

 

The annual budget process encompasses medium term financial planning with the intention that 

budget decisions are aligned to wellbeing objectives, asset management planning and workforce 

strategy. The Council approved Medium Term Financial Plan covers a four year period with 

currently a balanced budget set for year one and indicative budget deficits stated for years two to 

four (based on reported assumptions). 

 

 

g) Implementing good practices in transparency, reporting, and audit to deliver effective 

accountability. 

 

All Committee agendas, reports and minutes are written, communicated and published on the 

Council's website for the public and other stakeholders.  These are available in both English and 

Welsh.  Full Council meetings and Planning meetings are webcast. 

 

Reports are subject to officer challenge as part of governance arrangements (e.g. Change 

Management Steering Group) and prior to Cabinet and Council via Corporate Management Team, 

and Service Management meetings. This provides a means for ensuring a balance between the 

correct level of information for transparency and ability to make a true decision.   

 

Committee Membership, Attendance, Declarations at meetings, Registered Interests and Councillor 

Representation on Outside Bodies are monitored and published on the Council’s website and 

included in the Councillors' Annual Reports. 

 

A report on Remuneration paid to elected Councillors is published annually on the Council 

Website and updated with any changes throughout the financial year.  All of this information is 

also reported to the Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales (IRPW). 

 

The Annual Performance and Progress Report for 2017/18 was issued in 24th October 2018.  The 

Council has issued the forward looking plan Focus on the Future - Wellbeing in our Community 

2017-2022.  

 

Annual Financial Statements are presented to Full Council for approval following External Audit by 

the Wales Audit Office.  This is a statutory requirement. As part of the annual Council approval of 

the forthcoming year's Budget ("Budget Requirement and Council Tax - State of the Council 

Debate") the Chief Finance Officer comments on the robustness of the estimates and adequacy of 

financial reserves.  

 

Page 64



 

22 

 

The way that Council resources are used to contribute to the Well Being objectives is 

demonstrated in the Budget Report. 

 

Recommendations from the Wales Audit Office's Annual Improvement Report (including best 

practice) are also taken into account.  

 

Medium Term Financial Plan updates are also presented to Council prior to formal approval. 

 

The Annual Statement of Accounts is compiled based on the Chartered Institute of Public Finance 

and Accountancy (CIPFA) Code of Practice followed by every Local Authority.  This ensures 

consistency of reporting allowing for meaningful comparisons and benchmarking. Completion and 

publication is governed by statutory timescales.  Limited performance data is included within the 

audited annual accounts. 

 

An annual assessment of application of the principles contained within the Governance Framework 

is undertaken and involves a number of key officers and members of Corporate Management 

Team including the Chief Executive, Deputy Chief Executive, Monitoring Officer, Section 151 

Officer, and also Councillors via committee responsibilities e.g. the Audit Committee, Governance, 

Performance, Business Change and Corporate Services Scrutiny Committee. 

 

The assessment process involves comparing existing arrangements within the Council against the 

checklist published by CIPFA/SOLACE. This checklist is populated by the key officers, evidence is 

provided to support checklist comments. The checklist, evaluations and evidence are 

independently evaluated by the Internal Audit Service. The checklist, any actions for improvement 

required arising from its completion and a draft version of the Annual Governance Statement is 

reviewed and evaluated by the Corporate Management Team, Scrutiny and Audit Committees; and 

also the Wales Audit Office. 

 

The assessment process and the results of the assessment are published within the Annual 

Governance Statement. 

 

Actions for improvement are included in the authority's corporate action plan monitoring system 

known as the 'AAP (Audit and Inspection Action Plans) system'.  

 

There are a number of shared service arrangements in existence that the Council participate in.  

Shared services are hosted by a Lead Authority with those services following the governance 

arrangements in place with those Lead Authorities.  There are also specific arrangements in place 

for reporting on performance, use of resources and other important governance matters 

established for different partnerships or shared services.     

 

The Council has introduced a process for monitoring External Audit, Regulation and Inspection 

reports and their actions/recommendations. This involves Internal Audit checking all reports and 

maintaining a monitoring system. Reports are presented to Corporate Management Team and 

Page 65



 

23 

 

Audit Committee including update reports on progress on the implementation of agreed 

recommendations. 

 

Peer challenge is built into the performance challenge arrangements.  This work is currently being 

reviewed to align with the Wellbeing of Future Generation (Wales) Act 2015. 

 

Peer challenges, reviews and inspections from Regulatory bodies are welcomed as a means to 

provide added assurance over service delivery or to identify opportunities for improvement. Good 

links exist with Wales Audit Office, ESTYN, the Social Services Regulators and other key regulators, 

commissioners & stakeholders.   

 

The Council operates an in-house Internal Audit Service that is compliant with the Public Sector 

Internal Audit Standards. The Internal Audit Service undertakes a comprehensive annual 

programme of work based upon a risk assessed plan.   

 

The Council has an operating and effective Audit Committee that is compliant with the Local 

Government Measure (Wales) 2011 and the Accounts and Audit Regulations (Wales) 2014 and the 

Accounts and Audit (Wales) (Amendment) Regulations 2018.  The Committee Terms of Reference 

are compliant with best practice guidance.  It is independently chaired by a member of the non-

ruling political group.   

 

Audit Committee, Corporate Management Team and other key councillors and officers are 

consulted on areas of audit for inclusion in the annual plan.  At the end of the financial year the 

Audit Manager writes an Annual Report and Opinion on the control environment, risk 

management and governance arrangements at the council using the work completed throughout 

the year as the basis on which to formulate an opinion.  This opinion is also included within and 

informs the Council's Annual Governance Statement. 

 

The Council has a Risk Category Checklist as part of its risk identification process. The Checklist has 

been reviewed and updated in consultation with service areas across the Council to consider the 

risk requirements of the Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015.  The Checklist has also 

been updated to reflect other areas of risk in relation to partnerships, procurement and reputation.  

 

Risk is an integral part of the procurement process, the Procurement Board and Change 

Management Steering Group considers risks through each procurement gateway report. 

 

The Public Services Board (PSB) has a detailed Terms of Reference which sets out the arrangements 

for a number of matters including, roles and responsibilities, public participation, governance and 

management; and accountability for the Board and a range of partnerships.     

 

  

Page 66



 

24 

 

4.  REVIEW OF EFFECTIVENESS 

 

The Council has responsibility for conducting, at least annually, a review of the effectiveness of its 

governance framework including the system of internal control.  

 

A review of the effectiveness and annual assessment of application of the principles contained 

within the Governance Framework is undertaken and involves a number of key officers and 

members of Corporate Management Team including the Chief Executive, Deputy Chief Executive, 

Monitoring Officer, Section 151 Officer, and also Councillors via committee responsibilities e.g. the 

Audit Committee, Governance, Performance, Business Change and Corporate Services Scrutiny 

Committee. 

 

The assessment process involves comparing existing arrangements within the Council against the 

checklist published by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA)/the 

Society of Local Authority Chief Executives and Senior Managers (SOLACE). This checklist is 

populated by the key officers, evidence is provided to support checklist comments and then the 

checklist and evaluations and evidence is independently evaluated by the Internal Audit Service. 

The checklist, any actions for improvement required arising from its completion and a draft version 

of the Statement is reviewed and evaluated by the Corporate Management Team and the 

Governance Scrutiny Committee and Audit Committees and also the Wales Audit Office. 

 

The assessment process and the results of the assessment are published within the Annual 

Governance Statement. 

 

The Internal Audit Service and key officers of the Council carried out a review based on 

CIPFA/SOLACE guidance to ensure that evidence was in place to support the production of the 

Annual Governance Statement, to identify gaps where that was not the case and to review the 

effectiveness of existing arrangements.  

 

Throughout 2018/19 the Council has maintained and reviewed its system of internal control in a 

number of ways.  In particular: 

 

The Internal Audit Service has undertaken planned reviews of internal control procedures, risk 

management and governance arrangements across departments and across a range of functions 

within the Council.  The Internal Audit Service worked to its Plan for 2018/19.   Reports were 

published upon completion of assignments and circulated to management. Action plans are 

included in the Council’s Audit, Inspection Action Plans system (AAPs).  

 

Minutes and agenda papers of Audit Committee demonstrate that both internal audit, external 

audit (Wales Audit Office) and other external inspection/regulation agencies reports have been 

made to Audit Committee and also that officers have been called to the Audit Committee to 

discuss their respective reports and action plans and to subsequently provide further updates on 

progress at future Audit Committee meetings.   

Page 67



 

25 

 

The Annual Internal Audit Report for the financial year 2018/19 incorporating the Audit Manager’s 

opinion will be produced and reported to the Council’s Audit Committee on the 24th June 2019. 

Based upon the work undertaken during the year Internal Audit gave a satisfactory opinion on the 

internal control environment, risk management arrangements and governance arrangements for 

2018/19.  

 

The Scrutiny committees have examined a number of issues as part of their work programme in 

2018/19 as demonstrated in their Annual Report which will be reported to Full Council in July 2019. 

 

Information taken into consideration for producing the Annual Governance Statement includes 

performance management information, work completed by the Internal Audit Service, work 

completed by the External Auditor and other external inspection agencies, Scrutiny work, Risk 

Management and the Internal Control Framework including procedures, codes of conduct and 

policies and financial management controls as outlined in the CIPFA/SOLACE guidance. 

 

The Significant Governance Issues identified for 2018/19 are shown in section 5 and take into 

account the definition identified in Appendix 1. 

 

The Significant Governance Issues identified in 2017/18 together with the updated current position 

regarding their status is included in section 6.  

 

  

Page 68



 

26 

 

5.  SIGNIFICANT GOVERNANCE ISSUES 2018/19 

 

Issues 2018/2019 AGS Position & Action Taken/Planned  

Financial 

Pressures: 

Limited financial 

resources versus 

increasing 

demand for 

services and 

capital projects 

causes budget 

pressures which 

impact upon the 

delivery of 

public services.  

 

E.g. Reduction in 

funding from 

the Welsh 

Government, 

lack of 

investment 

income, capital 

receipts, costly 

care packages, 

reductions in 

grant funding. 

 

The Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) 2018/2019 to 2021/2022 was 

presented for approval to Council on 07 March 2018 and indicated an 

estimated budget deficit of £13.7 million over the period of the MTFP based 

on assumptions contained within the MTFP.  The MTFP 2019/20 to 2022/23 

was approved by Council on 04 March 2019 and 20 March 2019 indicating a 

revised estimated budget deficit of £15.0 million over the 4 year period, to be 

addressed through the Council's Corporate Change Programme. 

 

Although the Council aligns the MTFP with its priorities determined by its 

wellbeing objectives, it must be appreciated that a MTFP is a rolling 

programme continuously updated for changing circumstances, new 

developments and priorities.  Consequently it was recognised that a significant 

amount of work was still required to fully align spending requirements to 

Corporate Wellbeing Objectives and available finance. The Council's Operating 

Model Design defines how the Council is to carry out its business and supports 

the Council's Corporate Strategy, Wellbeing Objectives and Chief Officer's 

'Strategies on a Page'.  The Performance Board will monitor achievement 

against the measures of success and desired outcomes. In addition financial 

sustainability and resilience of the Council is monitored by the Chief Finance 

Officer. 

 

A provisional revenue outturn deficit of £560,000 (0.5%) is reported for 

2018/19 to be funded by a further contribution from the Budget Reserve. 

General Reserves are projected to remain at £4.7 million (3.9% of net revenue 

budget), in compliance with the Council’s Corporate Reserves Policy. Although 

the Budget Board has been instrumental in challenging budget overspends 

throughout the financial year, significant financial pressures were experienced 

within social care and in particular within the Children Looked After system. 

These demands have increased and are reflected within the approved revenue 

Budget for 2019/20 and the projected budget deficit of £8.2 million for 

2020/21. It is clear the Council is faced with a challenging financial position 

over the period of the MTFP and is currently in the process of developing a 

work programme to address the projected budget deficits. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 69



 

27 

 

 

6.  SIGNIFICANT GOVERNANCE ISSUES 2017/18 - UPDATE 

 

Issues CURRENT POSITION (2018/19) 

Financial 

Pressures: 

Limited financial 

resources versus 

increasing demand 

for services and 

capital projects 

causes budget 

pressures which 

impact upon the 

delivery of public 

services.  

 

E.g. Reduction in 

funding from the 

Welsh 

Government, lack 

of investment 

income, capital 

receipts, costly 

care packages, 

reductions in 

grant funding. 

 

Reduction in funding from the Welsh Government continues and as a result 

this remains a significant governance issue for 2018/19. 

 

See Section 5 – ‘Significant Governance Issues 2018/19’ for the current 

position and action taken / planned to address the issue. 

 

We propose over the coming year to take steps to address the above matters to further enhance 

our governance arrangements. We are satisfied that these steps will address the need for 

improvements that were identified in our review of effectiveness and will monitor their 

implementation and operation as part of our next annual review. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Councillor       Ellis Cooper  

Leader of the Council     Deputy Chief Executive 

Page 70



 

 

Appendix 1 

 

In determining what may constitute a significant governance issue, the following was taken into 

consideration: 

 

A single definition of a significant governance issue is not possible. Councils need to exercise 

judgement in deciding whether or not a particular issue should be regarded as falling into this 

category, but factors that may be helpful in exercising that judgement include: 

 

 The issue has seriously prejudiced or prevented achievement of a principal objective. 

 

 The issue has resulted in a need to seek additional funding to allow it to be resolved, or has 

resulted in significant diversion of resources from another aspect of the business. 

 

 The issue has led to a material impact on the accounts. 

 

 The audit committee, or equivalent, has advised that it should be considered significant for 

this purpose. 

 

 The Audit Manager has reported on it as significant, for this purpose, in the annual opinion 

on the internal control environment. 

 

 The issue, or its impact, has attracted significant public interest or has seriously damaged 

the reputation of the organisation. 

 

 The issue has resulted in formal action being taken by the Chief Finance Officer and/or the 

Monitoring Officer. 

 

 

 

Page 71



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT 

 

 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Living Well  
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1  We have set Wellbeing Objectives for Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council, and how we 

intend to achieve these objectives is set out in our plan ‘Focus on the Future: Wellbeing in 
our Community’.  The focus of this report is on the wellbeing theme Living Well. 

 
1.2 The Living Well objective is about building the capacity of individuals, families and 

communities to secure the best outcomes for themselves. It is about building resilience and 
providing the right level of support before problems materialise or escalate.  This will help to 
reduce the need to be involved in a crisis and enable more preventative work. The Council 
is committed to support people to become more empowered and able to live independently 
within their communities, where they are safe and enjoy good physical and mental health. 
The priority for this objective is to ensure people are able to live independently and safely 
within their communities.    

 
1.3 An annual review during 2018/2019 highlighted the need to further refine and refresh the 

key outcomes. This ensures that the outcomes clearly describe what the Living Well 
objective seeks to achieve. Therefore, for 2019/20 it was decided to refocus the outcomes 
to support the more integrated/collaborative approach being taken to meet these. The key 
long term outcomes for Living Well are: 

 
   People live safe and independent lives within their communities; 

   Children and adults are safeguarded from harm and feel safe; and 

   Children and young people live safely with their family or close to home and have 

transitioned well into adulthood. 

 
1.4 We will deliver these outcomes by focusing on our priorities for improvement: 
   Improve early intervention and prevention (adults, children and families); 

   Reduce the number of children looked after; and 

   Enable a greater number of adults to live independently. 

 

Date Written 21st June 2019 

Report Author Lisa Curtis Jones 

Service Area Social Services 

Committee Date 2nd July 2019 

Page 73

Agenda Item 5



1.5 Using the most recent performance information, this report establishes the current position 
for the wellbeing objective: People are empowered to live independently within their 
communities, where they are safe and enjoy good physical and mental health.    

 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 
2.1  The content of this report to be discussed and performance information scrutinised  
 
2.2  Scrutiny Committee Members offer any appropriate feedback to enable officers to consider              

when undertaking future service planning and delivery discussions. 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND  

Legislative Context 

3.1  The Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 specifies that we must work to     

improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural wellbeing of Wales by maximising 

our contribution to the seven Wellbeing Goals.   

 A prosperous Wales 

 A resilient Wales 

 A healthier Wales 

 A more equal Wales 

 A Wales of cohesive communities 

 A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh language 

 A globally responsible Wales 
 

3.2  We must do this in accordance with the sustainable development principle, which means 
that we act in a manner that seeks to ensure the needs of the present are met without 
compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs.  There are five ways 
of working that we need to do adopt in order to show that we have applied the sustainable 
development principle.  The five ways of working are: 

 

 Long Term 

 Preventative 

 Involvement 

 Collaboration 

 Integrated 

3.3 The Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014 specifies that we must seek to 
improve the wellbeing of people who need care and support, carers who need support and 
for transforming social services in Wales.  The focus of this Act is on what matters to the 
person and how they can use their own strengths and resources to do those things, which 
is determined by an assessment that involves the person and the professional(s). 

 
3.4 Strategic Context and Service Delivery  

The Council is committed to delivering excellent services. It will do this by delivering its key 
strategies and through joint working with a range of partners. The key strategies that focus 
on delivering excellent services in Social Services are: 

 

 Cwm Taf Social Services and Wellbeing Partnership Board ‘Regional Plan 2018- 
2023 

 Cwm Taf Safeguarding Board Annual Plan 2018 – 2019 

 Strategy for Early Help : People get the right help at the right time 

 Strategy for Edge of Care:  Evidence Based intensive Page 74

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2015/2/contents/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2014/4/contents


 Care Leavers 

 Strategy for sustainable Children’s Services 

 Strategy for Stability and Success 

 Strategy for improving Information, Advice and Assistance 

 Learning Disability Statement of Intent (Regional) 

 Older Persons Strategy (regional) 

 Learning Disability Day Service Strategy (regional) 

 Cwm Taf Supporting People Regional Strategic Plan 2017 – 2020 

 Carers Strategy (Regional) 
 
3.5 Work will be undertaken with key officers and other stakeholder to reviews and streamline 

existing plans and strategies. This will help address duplication and identify new 
opportunities for joint working. 
 

3.6 The department works collaboratively with other departments both within the Council, with 
external partners via the Public Service Board (PSB) and the Strategic Partnership Board 
(SPB); with other local authorities on regional projects such as Stay Well @Home, Pooled 
Care Home budget and associated joint contract as well as with multiple partner 
organisations across both the third and private sectors. 

 
3.7 The Council’s contribution to achieving the seven wellbeing goals is outlined in our plan     

[Focus on the Future: Wellbeing in our Community].  On the 17th April 2019, Full Council 

approved a revised version of the Plan, which reduced the number of wellbeing objectives 

from 9 to 4. The new objectives can be found in Appendix A. 

3.8  The Chief Officer for Social Services reports on the wellbeing theme Living Well.  The 

purpose of this report is to coordinate the performance information for this wellbeing 

objective and offer insights in the change of working practice linked to the wellbeing 

objective: People are empowered to live independently within their communities, where 

they are safe and enjoy good physical and mental health.   

4.0 WHERE WE WERE  
 
4.1  At the end of 2017/18 the Council published its Annual Performance Report, which 

evaluated performance across all 9 wellbeing objectives at the end of year 1 of the 
corporate wellbeing plan Focus on the Future. 
 

4.2  Social Services led on the Living Well theme, which had three wellbeing objectives during 
this period; these were: 
 
LW1: Developing safer communities;  
LW2: People have good physical and mental health; and 
LW3: People live independently. 
 

4.3  Our evaluation of performance in 2017 was Adequate.  The rationale for this judgment 
reflected the positive outcomes that were achieved (e.g.) improving our preventative 
agenda which was evidenced by more people receiving the right information and advice 
when they need it, and an increase in support being provided under the supporting people 
programme. However, there was a decline in the number of visits to sports and leisure 
centres; this is an area that will require consideration going forward.    
 

4.4 The Annual Performance Report provided an overview of the key performance indicators 
prior to the development of the Living Well SOAP: this data can be found in the table below 
along with the reported data from the previous year to provide some context: 

Page 75

https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/4710/focus-on-the-future-april-2019.pdf
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/4237/apr-2017-18-english.pdf


 
Table 1 

Key Performance Indicators 2016/17 2017/18  

% of re-registrations of children on local authority child 
protection registers 

1.57 (2/127) 4.67  
(7/150) 

 

% of adult protection enquires completed within 7 days 91.76 
(156/170) 

89.12 
(131/147) 

 

% of people that received the right information or advice when 
they needed it  

62.4 
(179/287) 

68.7 
(180/262) 

 

% of the adult population who can live independently    95.99 
(1889/47,124) 

95.85 
(1962/47,217) 

   

% of adults who completed a period of reablement and have a 
reduced package of care and support 6 months later  

19.77 
(34/172) 

16.02 
(54/337) 

 

% of people in receipt of specialist domestic violence support 
reporting an improvement in quality of life  

80 88.0  

% of children supported to remain living within their family 66.2 
(284/429) 

77.6 
(542/698) 

 

 

% of children looked after who have experienced one or more 
changes of school which were not due to transitional 
arrangements 

8.16  
(8/98) 

10.0 
(11/114) 

 

Number of visits to local authority sport and leisure centres per 
1,000 population 

8,137 7,808  

 

5.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW  
 
5.1 Following a review of year 1 of Focus on the Future, the 9 wellbeing objectives were 

reduced to 4.  As a result of this change, the Living Well theme now has one objective:  
People are empowered to live independently within their communities, where they are safe 
and enjoy good physical and mental health. The re-focused themes and objective for 
2018/19 can be found in Appendix A, Strategy On A Page (SOAP). 

 
5.2 An annual review during 2018/2019 highlighted the need to further refine and refresh the 

key outcomes. This ensures that the outcomes clearly describe what the Living Well 

objective seeks to achieve. Therefore, for 2019/20 it was decided to refocus the outcomes 

to support the more integrated/collaborative approach being taken to meet these. The key 

long term outcomes for Living Well are: 

 People live safe and independent lives within their communities; 

 Children and adults are safeguarded from harm and feel safe; and 

 Children and young people live safely with their family or close to home and have 
transitioned well into adulthood. 

 
5.3 The Living Well objective is about building the capacity of individuals, families and 

communities to secure the best outcomes for themselves. It is about building resilience and 
providing the right level of support before problems materialise or escalate.  This will help to 
reduce the need to be involved in a crisis and enable more preventative work. The Council 
is committed to support people to become more empowered and able to live independently 
within their communities, where they are safe and enjoy good physical and mental health.  

 
5.4 We will deliver these outcomes by focusing on our priorities for improvement: 
 

 Improve early intervention and prevention (adults, children and families); 

 Reduce the number of children looked after; and 

 Enable a greater number of adults to live independently. 
Page 76



Table 2 
Key Performance 

Indicators (2019/20) 

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 

Target Achieved Target Achieved Target Achieved Target Target 

No. of Children Looked After at 31 March N/A 145 N/A 156 N/A 198 N/A N/A 

Number of Children on the Child Protection 
Register at 31 March 

N/A 113 N/A 123 N/A 132 N/A N/A 

Percentage of children supported to remain 
living within their family (Measure 25) 

N/A 
66.2 

(284/429) 
N/A 

77.7 
(542/698) 

>78 
72.5 

(522/720 
>78 >78 

The percentage of looked after children on 
31 March who have had three or more 
placements during the year (Measure 33) 

11% 
11.72 

(17/145) 
12% 

13.46 
(21/156) 

12% 
12.63 

(25/198) 
11% 10% 

Percentage of adult protection (Section 
126) enquiries completed within statutory 
timescales (Measure 18) 

N/A 
91.8 

(156/170) 
N/A 

89.1 
(131/147) 

≥ 92 
83.15 

(153/184) 
≥ 92 ≥ 92 

The rate of delayed transfers of care for 
social care reasons per 1,000 population 
aged 75 or over 

TBC 
0.64 

(3/4720) 
TBC 

1.04 
(5/4787) 

TBC 
6.24 

(30/4810) 
TBC TBC 

The percentage of adults who completed a 
period of reablement and have no package 
of care and support 6 months later 
(Measure 20b) 

N/A 
50.58 

(87/172) 
N/A 

44.81 
(151/337) 

≥ 40 
46.33 

(202/436) 
≥ 40 ≥ 40 

Percentage of people in receipt of 
specialist domestic violence support 
reporting an improvement in quality of life  

N/A 80 85 89 88 
Awaiting 

Data 
**TBC **TBC 

The percentage of the adult population who 
can live independently 

N/A 95.99 N/A 95.85 N/A 
* Pending 

MYE 
* Pending 

MYE 
* Pending 

MYE 

***People reporting they feel safe (Measure 
3)  

N/A 
80% 

(229/287) 
N/A 

71% 
(186/262) 

N/A  N/A N/A 

Number of visits to local authority sport and 
leisure facilities during the year per 1,000 
population where the visitor will be 
participating in physical activity  

>8,594 
8,137 

(Rank 13th) 
>8,137 7808 >7808 7276 >7808 >7808 

* Mid-year estimates not available as at 30
th

 June 2018, therefore, figure unable to be calculated at present. 
** TBC – The level of funding is due to change in relation to domestic abuse and subsequently, the targets will be confirmed when the updated situation has been confirmed. 
*** It is important to note that this data is obtained as part of a statutory annual survey with set criteria.  Data reflects all people that have stated they feel safe.  Those that have stated that they ‘sometimes feel 
safe’ or ‘don’t know’ have been excluded from this figure.  As the cohort changes each year, annual figures cannot be compared.  More detailed data is available from the Performance and Scrutiny Team. 

 
(Please see Appendix B for the 2019/20 SOAP.)

P
age 77



5.5 There are a number of regional plans and strategies that help to deliver this 
objective, including the Cwm Taf Social Services and Wellbeing Partnership Board 
‘Regional Plan 2018-2023’ and the Cwm Taf Safeguarding Board Annual Plan 2018 
– 2019.  Work will be undertaken with key officers and other stakeholder to review 
and streamline existing plans and strategies.  This will help address duplication and 
identify new opportunities for joint working. 

 
5.6 The Children’s Services’ strategy has developed considerably. Each area of 

development is aimed at preventing escalation of need, improving the wellbeing of 
vulnerable young people with care and support needs, and delivering budget 
efficiencies.  Children’s services management team, relevant partners, service users 
and staff have been engaged in the development of the strategy and its related 
action plans. 

 
5. 7  Children’s Services Strategy itself included the following components: 
 

 Earlier intervention to prevent escalation of need – making sure that children 
and their families receive the right help at the right time to prevent unnecessary 
escalation of need. 

 Enhancing services at the edge of care – (Previously known as the Children 
Looked After Prevention Strategy) making sure intervention is evidenced based 
to prevent further escalation of need and risk; that where we need to look after 
young people we do so at the right time, ensuring every safe opportunity for care 
within the family network is fully explored. 

 Success, Stability and Transition – making sure that looked after young people 
and care leavers achieve stable and successful lives as a basis form where to 
transition into adulthood. 

 Strategy for Improving Performance – making sure that we continually improve 
the services we deliver and our outcomes. 

 Workforce Strategy – ensuring that we can successfully recruit qualified social 
workers; and that the service is staffed by colleagues who are well supported with 
the right values, qualifications and skills. 

 
5.8 Children’s Services Staff have highlighted the following values and principles as 

important to their ways of working and identity as a staff group: 
 

 We listen to young people, their families and colleagues. 

 We step up and step down services but avoid stepping away too soon. 

 We are positive and have a ‘can do’ attitude. 

 We embrace change. 

 Continuous improvement lies at the heart of our work – we welcome challenge. 

 We want to innovate and be leaders in practice. 

 We are passionate about making a difference for future generations of Merthyr 
Tydfil families. 

 
5.9 Included below is a summary of progress against the Children’s Services’ developing 

strategy: 

Page 78



 

Key Project  Area of Business   Progress 

Earlier intervention to 
prevent escalation of 
need  
Action Plan for 
Information Advice and 
Assistance (IAA). 

 IAA 

 Young Carers 

 Multi-Agency 
Safeguarding Hub 

 Step up Step down 
and MIA Co-ordination 

 Young Carers 
 

The MIA review is now complete and the 
Tackling Poverty Strategic Group has 
supported the recommended 
establishment of an Early Help Hub 
(EHH).  The EHH brings together a blend 
of grant and core funded staff to 
strengthen our integrated approach to 
connecting families with preventatives 
services.  The service will improve early 
identification of need and public 
confidence and take up of preventative 
services.  The planning for the EHH is 
presently underway and being 
coordinated by a partnership steering 
group.  It is anticipated that the EHH will 
be operational following awareness 
raising by 01.07.19.   
 
The EHH Steering group will oversee and 
track progress with: 
 

 Enhancing partner engagement in 
IAA. 

 Improving the digital information that is 
available. 

 Implementation of regional Carers 
strategy in relation to young carers. 

 Develop the pathway to support 
services for families with Children with 
Disabilities. 

 
Next Steps  
 

 Settle in the Early Help Hub and track 
improvement plan and outcomes. 

 

 
 

Enhancing  services at 
the Edge of Care 
(Previously Children 
Looked After Prevention 
Strategy).  
 
 

 Family Centre. 

 Re-assessment for 
Phase 2 of CLA 
prevention. 

 Intensive Family 
Support Team (IFST). 

 Early Intervention 
Team. 

 Multi-Agency Risk 
Assessment 
Framework (MARAF). 
 

Increasing   numbers of looked after 
young people and dependency on agency 
staff and emergency provision led us to 
re-design our offer to families at the Edge 
of Care.  The evidence base to the re-
design has been reviewed and ‘sense 
checked’ with relevant colleagues from 
the  Institute of Public Care at Oxford 
Brookes University who is involved in 
evaluating similar work across the UK.  
The outcome of the work is that the Early 
Intervention Team will be replaced by a 
new team.  The new team will have the 

Page 79



dual purpose of  working intensively to 
prevent entries to care but where we have 
a duty to safeguard , and a child needs to 
be looked after to provide high quality  
assessment evidence in order that the 
right decision can be made early in 
childhood.  It is an all age service with the 
following configuration: 
 

 Team Manager 

 0.5FTE psychologist 

 3 social workers (1 SW for 
adolescence) 

 3 / 4 FTE outreach workers 

 SLA Multi Systemic Family Therapy 
(to be developed) 

 SLA Family Resolutions Meetings (to 
be developed) 

 
The resource establishment is currently 
insufficient and the remit of cases will be 
adjusted (emphasis on pre- birth) to 
reflect that whilst work is underway to 
increase capacity within budget.  The new 
team will have a strong interface with 
CMHT and Substance Misuse Services 
along with the EHH in order to ensure that 
we don’t step away too soon  from 
families showing good progress.  
 
The Quality Assurance Framework is 
delivering important work in highlighting 
learning themes which are being 
translated into improvement.  This has 
included identifying the need for improved 
use of the MARAF.  
 
Next Steps 

 

 Settle in the New Edge of Care Team 
and track improvement plan and 
outcomes. 

 Increase our use of the MARAF. 

 Continue the work of the QA 
Framework. 

 

Strategy for Stability, 
Success and 
Transition   

 National Fostering 
Framework: Foster 
Carer recruitment and 
retention; Fostering 
Well-being.  

 Stability, Success and 
Transition Panel. 

There has been progress in the work 
under the National Fostering Framework 
which has seen the appointment of a 
regional manager, and marketing officer 
and the establishment of a regional front 
door for fostering in preparation for 
response to enquiries to new recruitment 
initiatives. Page 80



 Permanence. 

 Adoption. 

 Corporate Parenting. 

 Education for Looked 
After young people. 

 Pathway to 
Employment. 

 Offer to care leavers 
under hidden 
ambitions. 

 
A recommendation will be put to the 
Regional Partnership Board in April to 
support ICF funding of a regional Multi 
Agency Permanence Support Service.  
Once established, the service will provide 
an assessment of emotional wellbeing 
and early response to emerging needs for 
therapy for looked after young people.  
The service will support carers in and out 
of county in delivering therapeutic care 
and a team around the child model.  This 
development represents our response to 
preventing escalating need within the 
looked after system and supporting 
informed therapeutic provision. 
 
In January Scrutiny Committee received 
an annual report from Corporate 
Parenting Board outlining progress and 
challenges in relation to services for 
looked after young people.  Being guided 
by what care leavers have told us about 
what matters most to them, Children’s 
Services have re-designed the 
specification for the Personal Adviser 
Service leading to a tender process later 
in the Spring.  
 
In collaboration with 4Cs, the authority 
has concluded the Placement 
Commissioning Strategy with a view to 
increasing the supply of suitable 
accommodation and support for looked 
after young people and Care Leavers.  
 
Next Steps   
 

 Implement Corporate Parenting Board 
Action Plan into the Strategy for 
Success Stability and Transition. 

 Settle in the new PA service for care 
leavers and develop a Corporate Care 
Leaver’s Strategy. 

 Revise Transition Planning 
Arrangements in line with the 
Safeguarding Board’s Transition 
Principles. 

 Progress ICF bid for MAPSS. 

 Implement the Placement 
Commissioning Strategy. 

 

  

Page 81



Strategy for Improving 
Performance 

 Participation and the 
Young Person's Voice. 

 Partnership Working. 

 Policies and 
Procedures. 

 Performance Review. 

 Quality Assurance 
Framework. 

 Outcome Focused 
Work. 

 Independent 
Reviewing Service. 

Care experienced young people have 
continued to work with Voices from Care 
at the Merthyr Forum and have 
opportunities to link into other  
participation events.  Quality Assurance 
Framework is referred to above. 
Performance will be reviewed again at 
year end, with anticipated positive 
performance in relation to assessment 
and front door but less positive in relation 
to numbers of looked after young people 
and placement moves.  IROs are 
assisting with an early alert at second 
placement move; we need to improve 
performance in this area.  There has been 
some improvement in number of looked 
after young people living close to home.  
Relevant managers are working on the 
Ways of Working (outcome focused 
work) project; and Independent Chairs 
have reviewed their approach to 
escalating relevant matters.  A piece of 
work is underway to process clearer and 
easier in line with our policies and 
procedures work. 
 

Workforce Strategy  Recruitment. 

 Retention.  

The strategy has seen us understand our 
pull and push factors more.  There has 
been progress in our work with Merthyr 
College with students joining our services 
for a ‘taster menu’ ahead of social work 
training.   
 
We have successfully reduced our 
reliance on agency in one part of the 
service 
 
Continue to work with HR and training in 
respect of this area. 
 

 
 
5.10 The Adult services strategies have been developed on a more regional basis in line with the 

regional area plan these include the development of statements of commissioning intent for 
Older People, Carers and People with a Learning Disability. Whilst the strategies have been 
developed on a regional basis the implementation has been undertaken on both a local and 
regional footprint dependent on which approach will maximise the resources and impact. 

 
5.11 Within Adult Services in looking at improving Early Intervention and Prevention, we worked 

with health Colleagues and support workers were introduced into the GP clusters that would 
strengthen the provision of information and advice provision. It has been identified that this 
resource is supporting people earlier in the care pathway and is in line with the principles of 
Information, Advice and Assistance. This scheme has been extended until March 2020. 
 

Page 82



5.12 Funding has been committed for a complex needs Mental health worker to be co-located in 
our housing options office to support those presenting with complex mental health issues 
and will work on self-neglect. Again this is part of the Early Intervention and prevention 
programme.  

 
5.13 The Adult Day services review has commenced but still ongoing and is being aligned to the 

Valley LIFE project and the Learning Disability statement of intent. Significant work has 
taken place and will be in line with the Valley Life initiative and we are working with 
Dementia Care matters to enhance the experience and support for people with dementia. 
Staff within our residential homes and day services have attended training provided by 
Dementia Care Matters.  

 
5.14 Stay Well @ Home has had a formal evaluation and findings show that it is achieving 

improved outcomes for older people across Cwm Taf. The service won several awards in 
the past twelve months. As part of the transformational fund awarded by Welsh 
Government this service will be developed further to enhance the service to older people in 
Cwm Taf as part of a wider whole system approach.  

 
 
 

Key Project Area of Business Progress 

Valley Life Dementia 
Project Valley LIFE 
aims to develop highly 
effective and dynamic 
Health and Wellbeing 
Centres for older people 
with cognitive and 
memory problems in the 
Cwm Taf region. 
Additionally, working to 
dovetail into extra care 
strategies to assist 
people with dementia to 
live at home or as close 
to their community as 
possible in later years. It 
is a key collaborative 
program of 
transformational change 
between health, social 
care and the third sector  
The Valley LIFE model 
offers a viable 
alternative to meet 
future demands and is 
based upon the 
successful Recovery 
Model. The Recovery 
Model for older person’s 
mental health 
encompasses support 
for people with 
dementia, those with a 

 Integrated Health & 
Social Care Day 
Service 

 Specialist Dementia 
Intensive Therapy 
Team 

 Accommodation 

 

 Dementia Care Matters has completed 
an initial scoping of day services and 
drafted report. 

 Bid has  been submitted for ICF 
capital to re-configure the day service 
provision 

 Outline Architectural work has been 
completed and site visit  has been 
taken prior to preparation of proposed 
internal configuration  

 Specialist Dementia Intervention Team 
has been established to support 
people with complex dementia needs 
in care homes 

 Initial scoping work has been 
undertaken on the site adjacent to the 
existing Keir Hardie Health Park to 
develop an extra care facility. 

 A number of managers have 
completed the leadership in Dementia 
Care Matters 

 
Next Steps 

 Confirm internal re-design plans for 
the day service based on Dementia 
Care Matters principles. 

 Continue to work with Housing 
Colleagues and RSL to develop  extra 
care proposal 
 
 

Page 83



functional illness and the 
carers for both groups. It 
recognises that whilst for 
some people there is no 
full recovery, the 
opportunity for better 
health outcomes, 
increased wellbeing and 
preservation of dignity 
can still be delivered. 
This also includes the 
carers who are often 
prone to caregiver 
burden and stress. 
 

Learning Disability 
Statement of Strategic 
Intent (Regional) 
This Joint Statement of 
Strategic Intent is set 
within the context of the 
Social Services and 
Wellbeing (Wales) Act 
2014 and it outlines the 
strategic approach to the 
commissioning of 
learning disability 
services by partners 
across Cwm Taf. 
   

The key areas for the 
strategy are: 

My community –  

 Preventing loneliness 
and isolation by 
increasing community 
inclusion 

 Reducing Stigma 

My Home 

 

 Meet the range of 
housing needs now & 
in the future 

My Education, 
Employment & Life Long 
Learning 

 Improve and increase 
the options for further 
education 

 Improve and increase 
the options for 
employment, training 
and life-long learning 
 

An accompanying action plan has been 
developed to support implementation of 
the Statement of Intent and initial work 
has commenced. 
In February 19 a further workshop was 
held with service users to prioritise the 
next areas for development which were 
identified as: 
 
1. Health 

  

 Talk to me. Listen to me, not my staff. 

 Better training on learning disabilities 
for all staff. 

 Someone to stay with me in hospital 
until I feel comfortable. 

 Simple information to take away from 
my appointments. 

 Make information and signs easier to 
understand 

  
2. Home  

  

 More choice of where I live and who I 
live with. 

 Quiet spaces in supported living 
houses. 

 I want to make my own choices good 
or bad. 

 More house staff for increased 
opportunities 

 Having my own key to my own home. 
  
 
 
 

Page 84



3. Employment 
  

 Having a choice in what I want to do. 

 More education opportunities 

 Work experience/ work opportunities 

 Information and advice on what is 
available 

 Paid employment 
 
Next Steps 

 Further 2 workshops planned for July 
to co-produce action plans for priority 
areas 

 
 

6.0 WHERE WE WANT TO BE  
 
6.1 Merthyr Tydfil Children's Services plans to be a high performing service, working in co-

production with partners and families, providing services within budget that  are 
preventative, reduce risk and increase resilience . 

 
6.2 Welsh Government have set up a ministerial group to explore the reduction of children 

looked after. There is a safety first priority to this work and where possible we will look to 
reduce our Looked After numbers but the safety of children and young people is 
paramount. 

 
6.3 Develop further the Valley Life project plan and improve the offer to people in Merthyr with 

dementia. We will continue to work with partners to consider services and accommodation 
in the future.  

 
6.4 As part of the regional work in respect of the transformational agenda we will continue to 

work in partnership with health and neighbouring authorities to develop and improve 
services to the local population. There are several initiatives being explored at present 
these are based on 2 key themes of: 

 Integrated Community Care, Closer To Home 
 
 These include: 

 The development of a second phase of Stay Well @ Home following the evaluation of 
the first phase that will increase the access times to community services for 
professionals such as GPs, Welsh Ambulance Service and district nursing staff. 

 Development of enhanced community cluster teams to provide support to those people 
with higher care needs and chronic conditions to enable them to remain living in their 
community. 

 Assistive technology  

 Out of Hours services 

 Anticipatory Care  
 
 

7.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT  
 
7.1 Within children services we will continue with our plans around the reconfiguration of the 

service with development of the Early Help Hub, Edge of Care service and the Supporting 
Change team. 

 Page 85



7.1  We will continue to collaborate with partners and stakeholders to improve the Day service 
provision for Older People with dementia as part of the Valley Life Initiative 
 

7.2 We will continue to work with housing colleagues to explore a range of accommodation 
options to support people to remain as independent as possible in their community. 

 
7.3 We will take the opportunity to review our regional arrangements as a part of the revised 

Cwm Taf Morgannwg region.   
 
 

8 CONTRIBUTION TO WELLBEING OBJECTIVES 

 
8.1 The improvement activities identified in this report directly contribute to our wellbeing 

objective: 
 
 Living Well: People are empowered to live independently within their communities, where 

they are safe and enjoy good physical and mental health. 
 
8.2 The planned next steps for Focus on the Future and Tackling Poverty will ensure that the 

activities of Social Services will more robustly impact on the wellbeing objectives: 
 
 Best Start to Life: Children and young people get the best start to life and are equipped 

with the skills they need to be successful learners and confident individuals. 
 

Working Life: People feel supported to develop the skills required to meet the needs of 
businesses, with a developing, safe infrastructure that establishes Merthyr Tydfil as an 
attractive destination.  
 

 
LISA CURTIS JONES 
CHIEF OFFICER FOR SOCIAL SERVICES 

 
COUNCILLOR CHRIS DAVIES 

CABINET MEMBER FOR SOCIAL 
SERVICES  

 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) 

Date 
Document Location 

Focus On The Future: 
Well-being in our 
Community - Annual 
Performance Report 
2017 - 2018 

 MTCBC Website  -  Annual Performance Report 
2017 - 2018 

Statement of Wellbeing 
– 2019/2020 

 MTCBC Website - Statement of Wellbeing – 
2019/2020 

Focus On The Future: 
Wellbeing in our 
Community 2017-2022 
(Updated 2019/20) 

 MTCBC Website - Focus On The Future: 
Wellbeing in our Community 2017-2022 (Updated 
2019/20) 

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 
 

Page 86

https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/4237/apr-2017-18-english.pdf
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/4237/apr-2017-18-english.pdf
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/4709/statement-of-well-being-april-2019.pdf
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/4709/statement-of-well-being-april-2019.pdf
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/4710/focus-on-the-future-april-2019.pdf
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/4710/focus-on-the-future-april-2019.pdf
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/4710/focus-on-the-future-april-2019.pdf


 

APPENDIX A 

P
age 87



 

APPENDIX B 

P
age 88



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

SCRUTINY REPORT 
 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Work Programme 2019/20  
 
 
1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 

1.1 To provide the Scrutiny Committee with its work programme for consideration and to 
prepare in advance of the next scrutiny committee meeting. 

 
1.2 To remind Scrutiny Committee members that they need to consider the requirements 

of the Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 in all aspects of scrutiny 
work. 

 
2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 

2.1 The Committee considers the attached Work Programme and approves, revises or 
amends it as deemed appropriate; and to consider the questions at 3.7 in planning 
for the next meeting.  

 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 

3.1 The attached work programme identifies the topics and issues under consideration 
by the Scrutiny Committee and allows an opportunity for additional subjects to be 
identified and included on the programme. 

 
3.2 Scrutiny committees are required to prepare and keep under review a programme for 

their future work. By reviewing and prioritising issues, members are able to ensure 
that the work programme delivers a member-led agenda.  

 
3.3 The Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 requires each Public Service 

Board (PSB) and Council to work with their communities to develop local objectives. 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council (MTCBC) and the Cwm Taf PSB have acted 
on this. 

Date Written 24th June 2019 

Report Author Scrutiny Section 

Committee Division Scrutiny  

Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 

Committee Date 2nd July 2019 

Page 89

Agenda Item 6



 
3.4 MTCBC has four local Wellbeing Objectives, each having clear outcomes that will 

help the Council to respond to local community needs and contribute to the seven 
national wellbeing goals. The four Wellbeing Objectives are:- 

 
 

BS Best Start to Life - Children and young people get the best start to life and are 
equipped with the skills they need to be successful learners and confident 
individuals.  
 
The key outcomes for Best Start to Life are: 
 

 Children live in a nurturing and stimulating home environment  

 Children have access to high quality pre-school and school education  

 Improve the educational outcomes for all children and young people  

 Children and young people have good health and wellbeing 
 
 

WL Working Life - People feel supported to develop the skills required to meet the 
needs of businesses, with a developing, safe infrastructure which makes Merthyr 
Tydfil as an attractive destination.  
 
The key outcomes for Working Life are:  
 

 Merthyr Tydfil realises its full economic potential, with a skilled workforce and 
better employment opportunities; 

 People value and enjoy the built and natural environment, protecting and 
enhancing our cultural assets for current and future generations;  

 We have strong, resilient and supportive communities where people take 
responsibility for their own actions and how they affect others.  

 
 

EW Environmental Wellbeing - Communities protect, enhance and promote our 
environment and countryside.  
 
 The key outcomes for Environmental Wellbeing are:  
 

 Environmental damage is minimised by preventing pollution 

 To maximise the amount of materials and resources recycled in line with the 
waste hierarchy; 

 Merthyr Tydfil has good quality, biodiverse and connected green infrastructure 
and open spaces; and 

 The use of renewable and low carbon energy is increased.  
 

LW Living Well - People are empowered to live independently within their 
communities, where they are safe and enjoy good physical and mental health.  
 
The key outcomes for Living Well are: 
 

 People live safe and independent lives within their communities 

 Children and adults are safeguarded from harm and feel safe 

 Children and young people live safely with their family or close to home and 
have transitioned well into adulthood. 

 

 

Page 90



3.5 The Scrutiny Committee is encouraged to identify issues that reflect these priorities 
that are within your remit and/or are a priority for local people and communities. If a 
matter is a recurring issue for the people you, as Councillors, represent, the 
likelihood is that it is something that the Committee should consider. The more 
relevant the issue is to local communities then the greater the likelihood of engaging 
those communities in the scrutiny process and of producing outcomes that will be 
visible to those communities you represent. 

 
3.6 MTCBC has developed an ‘Our Shared Vision’ document (Appendix I). This makes 

the connections from the seven national Wellbeing Goals through to the local 
objectives and political priorities. This document is contained within one page and 
acts as an easy to understand guide. When considered with service area strategies 
and operational plans a thread is created that can be extended down to individual 
tasks. This helps staff members see how they are contributing to the Act and the 
‘Wales We Want’, and will assist Scrutiny members better understand the 
connections with the Act. 

 
3.7 The work programme is a dynamic document and is reviewed at every meeting of 

the Committee to ensure that its contents are still relevant and will add value to what 
the Council and partners are doing. At each meeting the committee will agree the 
agenda items for their next meeting and in preparation may in advance wish to ask 
itself the following questions. 
 

Q) Why has the item been placed on a Scrutiny Work Programme? 

a. Does this item/topic contribute to the delivery of the Council’s wellbeing 
objectives and priorities? 

b. Is this item/topic relating to service performance concerns? 
c. Is this item/topic of significant public interest? 
d. Has the item/topic got budgetary implications? 
e. Is this a item/topic where Scrutiny involvement will make a significant 

difference and achieve tangible outcomes? 
f. Can effective Scrutiny of this issue be delivered from within available 

resources? 
 
Q) What is the specific role of the Committee? 

            This will depend on the item – for example the role could be: 
a. to determine if performance levels are acceptable in relation to a particular 

department; 
 b.  to determine if a specific policy is fit for purpose; 

 c.  to satisfy itself that the Authority is working well with its partners in tackling a 
major issue; 

d.  to gather the views of specific stakeholders as part of an on-going scrutiny 
investigation / review; 

e. to explore possible solutions to an issue. 
 

Q) What outcome is the Committee seeking from the consideration of this 
item? 

a. To comment on the proposed budget and make suggestions to cabinet 
regarding the proposed budget’s ability to deliver the priorities of the council  

b. Identification of any causes for concern and note successes. 

Page 91



c. To receive an overview presentation. 
d. To gain an understanding of and to comment on a policy / strategy 
e. To explore ideas around the setting of budgets while considering the 

pressures facing each service. This also helps provide an overview of the 
policy frame work.  

f. For the scrutiny committee to gain an overview and refresh their knowledge of 
the wellbeing objectives / other plan / other strategy. 

g. Improvement in service delivery 
 

Q) What information does the Committee need to fulfil this role / achieve 
this outcome?  

What is the Committee trying to do? You might be trying to do some or all of 
the following i.e. establish facts; gather opinions; or explore new ideas / 
solutions. 

 

Q) Who should be invited to the meeting to provide the information? 

Depending on the information you need you might want to hear from a range 
of witnesses – e.g. Cabinet members, Senior Officers, Service users, and 
External partners – e.g. Police, Strategic Partners etc 

 

Q) Does the Committee need to ask for written representations? 

The Committee may wish to pose some questions to the Directorate / Cabinet 
Member / External Partner etc prior to the meeting. This may help in instances 
when the Committee is looking for something specific to be addressed. This 
will assist whoever is attending ensure that they have the information / answer 
ready for the meeting.  

 

Q) Which meeting format / venue would be most appropriate for the item 
and for the witnesses that will be invited to attend? 

 Meetings do not have to be held in a formal committee room environment. 
You may wish to hold occasional meetings out in the community e.g. 
community centres, sports facilities etc. It depends on the subject. Some 
people find the formal setting intimidating. Site visits for example may be more 
appropriate to see first-hand what the committee is investigating / obtaining 
information on e.g. waste sites, regeneration projects etc. 

 
Q) Method of Scrutiny? 

 Once Members have identified the matters they wish to scrutinise, 
consideration should be given to scoping the subject in more detail including 
the timing and method of scrutiny to be used. Support in this process will be 
given by the Scrutiny and Support Manager and Officer. Members may wish 
to: 

a. Consider an item at a single meeting; 

b. Consider an item over a series of meetings; 

c. Allocate the work to a small working group of Members (Task & Finish group) 
to investigate the issue over a period of 2-3 months (this may involve visits to 
see how services are working in practice); 

d. Undertake an Inquiry Day (or days); 

e. Undertake joint scrutiny with members of another Scrutiny Committee; 

Page 92



f. Invite expert witnesses to give their views; 

g. Seeking the views of service users/carers and/or the general public (public 
calls for evidence). 

 
 
 
Performance and Scrutiny Department 
MTCBC 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

Statement of Wellbeing 
& Focus on the Future: 
Wellbeing in our 
Community 

4th April 2018 MTCBC Website 
 
Full Council 4th April 2018  
 
 

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 93

http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/documents/g2694/Public%20reports%20pack%2004th-Apr-2018%2017.30%20Full%20Council.pdf?T=10&LLL=0


 

 

APPENDIX I 

Page 94



Governance, Performance, Business Change, and Corporate Services Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2019/20 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

 
Date / Timing Overarching Item Officer & Cabinet 

Member 
Scrutiny Focus 

 
 

21st May 2019 

Draft Committee Work 

Programme 2018/19 

 

Cllr Tanya Skinner 

(Chair) and Scrutiny 

Committee Members 

The Committee to discuss the draft Work Programme and to officially agree and sign off the 

Work Programme for 2019-2020. 

 

Tackling Poverty Strategy 
and Action Plan 

Sue Walker/Alyn 
Owen/Lisa Curtis-Jones 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - Following presentation of a report at the Governance Scrutiny 
meeting of 26th February 2019; Committee Members stated they required more details and 
wanted sight of the Tackling Poverty Strategy document  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2nd July 2019 

Draft Annual Governance 
Statement 
 

Gary Evans (Shared 
Audit Service)  

Scrutiny & Challenge:- To provide Committee Members the opportunity to review the  Draft 
Annual Governance Statement document and to constructively challenge its 
contents/findings prior to its’ presentation to Full Council. 

Corporate Wellbeing 
Plan: Living Well Theme 
 

Cllr Chris Davies / Lisa 
Curtis-Jones 

Scrutiny & Challenge: -  At the scrutiny meeting held on 10th July 2018, Committee Members 

requested the Living Well theme within the Corporate Plan be presented at Governance 

Scrutiny, with a specific focus on the following element which were highlighted when the 

report last came before the Committee: 

 The current financial position and details of any early indicators of projected overspend; 

 An update on the developing WCCIS data management system and how data-related 

issues experienced last year have been addressed; 

 The current status of the ‘butterfly’ model of adult social care which was brought to the 

Committee’s attention in the last thematic update reports; and 

 An overview of progress made linked to the priority identified last year around the 

further development of partnership working arrangements at the Community Zone, 

Gurnos. 

Welsh National Library 
Standards 

Jane Sellwood / John 
Sellwood 

Scrutiny & Challenge:   The Council has a responsibility to respond to the 1964 Libraries and 
Museum Act.  The Welsh Public Library Standards are the method by which the minister with 
responsibility for Library Services is able to measure whether an authority is complying with 
its statutory duty.  This report is required to be reviewed by the committee on order to meet 
the requirement for ratification of the Welsh Public Library Standards.  The Committee will 
be required to review the content of the return documents, review and challenge the 
information received (where applicable), prior to its submission to Welsh Government 

 

P
age 95



Governance, Performance, Business Change, and Corporate Services Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2019/20 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

 
Date / Timing Overarching Item Officer & Cabinet 

Member 
Scrutiny Focus 

 
2nd July 2019 

Scrutiny Committee 
Work Programme 

Chair and Committee 
Members 

Scrutiny & Challenge:  The Committee will review the items due to be presented at the next 

meeting, ensuring a clear brief outlining the Committee’s expectations is available to the 

report authors. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

3rd September 2019 

Human Resources Cllr Andrew Barry / Fran 
Donnelly 

Scrutiny & Challenge:- WAO Report – Following on from the Improvement Assessment 
2015-16: Review of the Council’s Human Resources Function a report is requested from 
colleagues in HR to review the status of the following:  
* Single points of dependency across the Authority and the risk this poses;  
* Corporate sickness absence statistics over the last 3 years with a specific    
   focus on stress-related sickness absence;  
* A quarterly report on agency staff employed by the Council, including  
   financial details/costs; and 
* The early impact of decisions taken linked to VR and VER. 

Audit Action Plan:  
Recommendations made 
by external regulators 
(WAO, CSSIW, ESTYN, 
WG Commissioners 
etc.).  
 

Shared Audit Service / 
Steve Jones 

Scrutiny & Challenge:-  Following a report received at the Governance Scrutiny Meeting on 
9th April 2019; Committee Members requested a subsequent report outlining the current 
position with regards to at Audit Action Plan function outlining responses to regulatory 
recommendations received by the Council. 

Scrutiny Committee 
Work Programme 

Chair and Committee 
Members 

Scrutiny & Challenge:  The Committee will review the items due to be presented at the next 

meeting, ensuring a clear brief outlining the Committee’s expectations is available to the 

report authors. 

 

 
 

9th October 2019 

DRAFT Annual 
Performance Report 
 
 

Andrew Mogford Scrutiny & Challenge: - The Annual Performance Report is a statutory document which the 
Council MUST to publish to communicate its’ self-evaluation of delivery against our wellbeing 
objectives.  The Committee is requested to review the draft report and ‘test’ the evaluative 
judgments made by Chief Officers through constructively critical challenge. 
 

  

P
age 96

http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/documents/s34392/Wales%20Audit%20Office%20Report.pdf
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/documents/s34392/Wales%20Audit%20Office%20Report.pdf


Governance, Performance, Business Change, and Corporate Services Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2019/20 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

 
Date / Timing Overarching Item Officer & Cabinet 

Member 
Scrutiny Focus 

 
 
 
 
 

9th October 2019 

Domestic Abuse and 
Sexual Violence  
 

Safer Merthyr Tydfil Scrutiny & Challenge: -  

Members will be offered an overview of Violence Against Women, Domestic Abuse and 

Sexual Violence (Wales) Act 2015.  The Committee seeks a report outlining the impact of 
domestic abuse and sexual violence on local people.  In relation to sexual violence, the 
Committee should outline the impact of sexual violence on communities (i.e.) STI’s; 
pregnancies; impact on mental health and offer basic detail on the support structure 
available for victims. 

Scrutiny Committee 
Work Programme 

Chair and Committee 
Members 

Scrutiny & Challenge:  The Committee will review the items due to be presented at the next 

meeting, ensuring a clear brief outlining the Committee’s expectations is available to the 

report authors. 

 
 
 
 
 

26th November 2019 

Local Authority Support 
to the Third Sector 
Services 

Cllr Tanya Skinner/Alyn 
Owen/Chris Long/Ryan 
Barry 

Monitoring & Scrutiny:  This item was originally received as a result of a WAO report. 
Subsequent to the item being discussed at the scrutiny meeting an email was sent to the 
Chief Executive and the Cabinet Portfolio Member. As a result of scrutiny’s involvement a 
report was submitted to the Governance Services Scrutiny Committee meeting on 13th 
February.  

Corporate Wellbeing 
Plan – Working Life 
Theme 
 
 

Cllr Geraint Thomas / 
Alyn Owen / Chris Long 
/ Steve Peters 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - At the scrutiny meeting held on 9th April 2019, Committee Members 
requested the Working Life theme within the Corporate Plan be presented at Governance 
Scrutiny, with a specific focus on the following element: 
 

“Post-16 provision; how this links with Cwm Taf Public Services Board; and details of progress 
made on apprenticeships and partnership working”. 

Scrutiny Committee 
Work Programme 

Chair and Committee 
Members 

Scrutiny & Challenge:  The Committee will review the items due to be presented at the next 

meeting, ensuring a clear brief outlining the Committee’s expectations is available to the 

report authors. 

 
7th January 2020 

Change Programme  
 
 
 

Ellis Cooper / Andrew 
Mogford 

Scrutiny & Challenge: -   Scrutiny Members to review the ‘post-decision’ status of areas 
originally identified for financial savings and identified whether savings have been achieved, 
the impact of this service rationalisation etc. 

  

P
age 97



Governance, Performance, Business Change, and Corporate Services Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2019/20 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

 
Date / Timing Overarching Item Officer & Cabinet 

Member 
Scrutiny Focus 

 
7th January 2020 

Scrutiny Committee 
Work Programme 

Chair and Committee 
Members 

Scrutiny & Challenge:  The Committee will review the items due to be presented at the next 

meeting, ensuring a clear brief outlining the Committee’s expectations is available to the 

report authors. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
25th February 2020 

Wellbeing Objective – 
Best Start to Life 
 
 

Sue Walker / Annabel 
Lloyd  

Scrutiny & Challenge: -   At the scrutiny meeting held on 26th February 2019, Committee 
Members requested the Best Start theme within the Corporate Plan be presented at 
Governance Scrutiny, with a specific focus on attainment levels across the County Borough 
 

Corporate Self-
Evaluation 2019-20 

 

Cllr Andrew Barry / 
Andrew Mogford 

Scrutiny & Challenge: -   Following the re-introduction of the Corporate Self-Evaluation 
Process in May 2019; Committee Members will receive a report outlining the key findings of 
the process on a directorate/service area basis.  Members will be advised on lessons learned 
during completion of the self-evaluation process (e.g.) any areas of good practice or issues or 
barriers identified; and the key priorities for improvement which will be actioned over the 
coming 12 months.  Committee Members will be required to review the self-evaluative 
judgment and seek evidence to support the accuracy of this judgment. 

Scrutiny Committee 
Work Programme 

Chair and Committee 
Members 

Scrutiny & Challenge:  The Committee will review the items due to be presented at the next 

meeting, ensuring a clear brief outlining the Committee’s expectations is available to the 

report authors. 

21
st

 April 2020 

Corporate Wellbeing 
Plan – Environmental 
Wellbeing 
 
 

Cllr David Hughes / 
Judith Jones 

Scrutiny & Challenge: -  At the scrutiny meeting held on 9th April 2019, Committee Members 
requested the Environmental Wellbeing theme within the Corporate Plan be presented at 
Governance Scrutiny, with a specific focus on the following element: 
 

“It has been almost 12 months since new measures were introduced.  Members want to 
explore whether there has been any increase of incidents of fly-tipping.  Have costs 
increased?  Does policy require change? (e.g. black bin charge; waste transfer note charge 
etc.)”. 

Statement of Wellbeing 
and Corporate Wellbeing 
Plan: Focus on the Future 

Andrew Mogford Scrutiny & Challenge: -  The Council is required to meet its statutory duty of refocusing and 
publishing  its Statement of Wellbeing and Corporate Wellbeing Plan annually.  Committee 
Members are required to scrutinise both of these documents to review how well the Council 
is meeting its requirements against the Wellbeing  of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. 

Scrutiny Committee 
Work Programme 

Chair and Committee 
Members 

Scrutiny & Challenge:  The Committee will reflect on this year’s work programme and discuss 

how the 2020-2021 work programme will be developed 

 

P
age 98


	Agenda
	3 Welsh Public Library Standards
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2
	Appendix 3
	Appendix 4
	Appendix 5
	Appendix 6

	4 Draft Annual Governance Statement for the Financial Year 2018-19
	Appendix 1

	5 Living Well
	6 Work Programme 2018-19
	Appendix 1


